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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Good afternoon. I

          3  am Kathryn Freed, the Chairperson of the Contracts

          4  Committee. I would like to begin by recognizing my

          5  colleagues in the City Council who are here today.

          6  To my far left, although he was there about five

          7  seconds ago, was Ken Fisher, Council Member Bill

          8  Perkins, Council Member Espada. To my far right,

          9  Council Member Fiala. I expect we will be joined by

         10  other Council Members as the day goes on.

         11                 At today's oversight hearing, we will

         12  examine the issue of penalties for public

         13  construction delays.

         14                 Quite often construction projects are

         15  delayed for a variety of reasons, whether scheduling

         16  changes, owner/designer conflicts and omissions of

         17  information by other party.

         18                 When a contractor causes the delay,

         19  public entities possess a host of options that they

         20  can utilize by which to penalize a contractor. For

         21  example, Section 6-102 (b) of New York City

         22  Administrative Code provides that if the contractor

         23  shall fail in any respect to fulfill the contract

         24  within the time limited for its performance, then

         25  the agency in charge thereof shall complete the same
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          2  in the manner provided for in the contract.

          3                 The cost of such completion shall be

          4  a charge against such delinquent contractor.

          5                 Additional remedies include a

          6  contractor being designated as an unreliable bidder,

          7  being deemed ineligible from bidding on future City

          8  contracts, or a poor evaluation that will be listed

          9  on the City's VENDEX system.

         10                 When it comes to delays caused by the

         11  public entity, particularly municipalities that

         12  contract a large portion of construction work,

         13  little relief exists for contractors in recouping

         14  expenses incurred by delays.

         15                 This imbalance has been cited as

         16  increasing construction costs and hurting some of

         17  the smaller base contractors and subcontractors. In

         18  particular, contracting companies that are minority

         19  and women-owned.

         20                 Recently, the New York State

         21  Legislature attempted to address this issue by

         22  almost unanimously adopting a bill that would have

         23  required that Public Works contracts contain

         24  language that certain damages that a contractor

         25  incurs would be irrevocable when the public entity

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  is responsible for causing a project to be delayed.

          3                 In order to limit and avoid agencies

          4  from being confronted with a series of frivolous

          5  lawsuits, the bill required that contractors make

          6  their claim for damages under oath, swearing to the

          7  amount of damages caused by a public entity.

          8                 In December 1998, Governor Pataki

          9  vetoed the bill. The Governor noted that he was

         10  sympathetic with the central objective of the bill,

         11  allowing contractors to recover costs for damages

         12  unjustly incurred by public entities.

         13                 The veto message recognized that

         14  certain state agencies has already undertaken

         15  measures that permitted contractors to seek out

         16  compensation for delays caused by public entities.

         17                 The Governor cited that the principle

         18  defect of the bill is that it's operative language

         19  is too broad and it fails to define key terms.

         20                 As a result, the bill as currently

         21  written would permit recovery delays caused by the

         22  public owners' acts or omissions regardless of

         23  whether such acts were at the fault of the public

         24  entity.

         25                 Additionally, there were no
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          2  definitions in the bill with such terms as changed

          3  conditions, differing site or subsurface conditions.

          4                 The failure to define such terms, the

          5  veto message stressed, would expose all public

          6  entities to costly and complex litigation over the

          7  application and meeting of such ambiguous terms.

          8                 The overall effect of such a bill

          9  would likely result in an increase in delays in

         10  public construction projects, as parties found

         11  themselves caught up in lengthy arbitration and

         12  legal proceedings.

         13                 Accordingly, the bill would go far

         14  and beyond for permitting recovery for unreasonable

         15  delays and would allow for recovery for delays in

         16  situations in which such delays are reasonable and

         17  are within the contemplation of the parties and

         18  occur in the ordinary course of business.

         19                 In order to review and clarify the

         20  current status of the proposed changes in relation

         21  to contractual agreements with regard to delays in

         22  public construction projects and its potential

         23  impact in New York City construction contracts, the

         24  Committee on Contracts has been invited at today's

         25  hearing, hearing representatives from the Department
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          2  of Design and Construction, the Law Department, the

          3  Manhattan Borough President, the City Comptroller's

          4  Office, the General Contractors' Association, the

          5  New York Building Congress, the American

          6  Subcontractors Association and several private

          7  contractors.

          8                 Due to the number of people

          9  testifying today, it may be necessary to bring you

         10  up to channels. Before we hear testimony, let me

         11  remind you that it is the practice of this Committee

         12  to swear in all witnesses.

         13                 I believe we have our first panel of

         14  witnesses already. And we have also been joined by

         15  Council Member Eristoff.

         16                 So, for our first witnesses for this

         17  panel, if you would raise your right hand, please.

         18  Do you swear to tell the truth, the whole truth and

         19  nothing but the truth?

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I do.

         21                 MS. SCHECHTER: I do.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you. And

         23  would you state your name and position for the

         24  record and then proceed.

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Lou Tormenta,
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          2  Commissioner of the Department of Design and

          3  Construction.

          4                 MS. SCHECHTER: Marilyn Schecter.

          5  Chief of the Contracts and Real Estate Division of

          6  the New York City Law Department.

          7                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Good

          8  afternoon, Madame Chair and honorable Committee

          9  members. Thank you for inviting us to comment on

         10  this important matter today.

         11                 Last month, in a victory for the

         12  public interest, Governor Pataki vetoed a bill which

         13  would have mandated that every contract let by

         14  public entities contain a damage for delay clause.

         15                 The Governor noted in his veto

         16  message the bill was opposed by, among others, the

         17  New York State Conference of Mayors and Municipal

         18  Officials, the Mayor of the City of New York, the

         19  New York City Comptroller's Office, the Metropolitan

         20  Transportation Authority, the New York State

         21  Association of Counties, the Governor's Office of

         22  Regulatory Reform, the State Education Department,

         23  the Jacob Javits Convention Center, the State

         24  Thruway Authority, the State Department of

         25  Transportation, the Office of General Services, the
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          2  State Department of Labor, the State Department of

          3  Environmental Conservation, the State Department of

          4  Agriculture and Markets, the State Dormitory

          5  Authority, the State University of New York, the New

          6  York State Association of Towns, the New York State

          7  School Boards Association, the New York State Bar

          8  Association, the Water Works Association, the

          9  Association of Renewal and Housing Officials, AIA

         10  New York State and numerous school districts and

         11  local authorities.

         12                 The effect of this bill would have

         13  been to require taxpayers to pay for ordinary garden

         14  variety delays that are unavoidable in construction

         15  projects and that are well within the contemplation

         16  of contractors when they make bids.

         17                 Because such delays are so

         18  commonplace, the City, like many owners, has for 40

         19  years or more included in its contracts a no damages

         20  for delay clause.

         21                 Such assignment of risk clauses are

         22  common in commercial agreements and strong public

         23  policy considerations support their inclusion in

         24  contract involving governmental entities.

         25                 The clause serves several purposes.
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          2  First, it is intended to achieve fiscal stability

          3  and integrity by ensuring that the owner knows at

          4  the outset substantially the full cost it will incur

          5  on any construction project.

          6                 In exchange for this certainty, the

          7  owner is willing to accept the risk of higher bids,

          8  as preferable to the specter of even more costly

          9  claims, which are not restrained by the competition

         10  found in bidding.

         11                 It should be noted, however, that

         12  there is absolutely no evidence that the inclusion

         13  of a"no-damage-for-delay" clause does increase the

         14  amount of the bids.

         15                 Secondly, such clauses are intended

         16  to avoid vexatious litigation over whether delays

         17  were reasonable, real or fantasy, or, if real, over

         18  whose fault they were.

         19                 In the City of New York delay cases

         20  take a minimum of one month to try and those are

         21  only the small ones.

         22                 Even those cases which the owner wins

         23  costs hundreds of thousands of dollars to litigate.

         24  There is no justifiable reason why upon entering

         25  into a contract to build necessary facilities, an
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          2  owner should not be free to protect itself

          3  contractually from repeated suits of this kind.

          4                 Thirdly, "no-damage clauses" are

          5  intended to protect the public bidding process by

          6  insuring that the lowest bid is really the lowest

          7  bid.

          8                 Unlike private developers, public

          9  owners cannot choose the contractors with whom they

         10  do business. Under the public bidding laws, jobs

         11  must go to the so-called lowest responsible bidder,

         12  whomever that may, although another bidder may

         13  produce work at much higher quality.

         14                 Thus, those who bid on public

         15  projects are not constrained to maintain goodwill in

         16  order to get another job.

         17                 A no-damage-for-delay clause

         18  restrains those most inclined to claimsmanship from

         19  underbidding to secure the job with the expectation

         20  of supplementing the resulting contract price with

         21  claims.

         22                 Throughout the course of the job,

         23  such a contractor may repeatedly seek extra

         24  compensation for what is actually contract work.

         25                 If the public owner disagrees, the
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          2  contractor may stop working or slow down. If that

          3  results in delaying the project, he may add a delay

          4  claim to his suit for extra work.

          5                 Invoking the City's contractual

          6  remedies against a contractor who engages in such

          7  tactics may further slow the progress of

          8  construction and thereby negatively impact both the

          9  economics and the quality of life of the community.

         10                 The problem in public contracting in

         11  New York is compounded, since unlike most

         12  municipalities in the nation, and unlike the federal

         13  government, municipalities in New York State,

         14  including the City of New York, are required by a

         15  group of statutes, commonly referred to as the Wicks

         16  Law, to award four separate and independent

         17  contracts for each construction contract, even

         18  though this practice results in higher project costs

         19  than if bid as a single project.

         20                 Typically, in private sector

         21  construction, the owner hires a general contractor

         22  to take charge of a construction project and manage

         23  the work of its subcontractors. By requiring

         24  separate contracts to be awarded for general

         25  construction, electrical, plumbing and heating,
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          2  ventilating and air conditioning, without making any

          3  one contractor responsible for overall project

          4  coordination, the Wicks Law virtually ensures

          5  additional expenses caused by delay.

          6                 Proposed Section 138-b of the State

          7  Finance Law, vetoed by Governor Pataki, would have

          8  rendered the state, municipal corporations, school

          9  districts and other public entities liable for delay

         10  costs inherent in Wicks Law Public Works Projects.

         11                 Currently, one of the few

         12  disincentives to slowing down a job has been the

         13  presence of a no-damage-for-delay clause in the

         14  public construction contract.

         15                 Typically, what happens on a Wicks

         16  Law project is that throughout the project the

         17  contractors get in each other's way to fight and

         18  blame each other for delaying the project.

         19                 After the job, despite the presence

         20  of a clause in each of their contracts which would

         21  allow them to sue each other, invariably the failure

         22  to coordinate the work.

         23                 The vetoed legislation, by requiring

         24  the public entity to bear the costs of delay, would

         25  have eliminated the incentive for contractors to
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          2  coordinate their work and speed their efforts, and

          3  have replaced it with a powerful economic incentive

          4  for them to do the opposite.

          5                 It would have made it far easier for

          6  contractors to blame public agencies for their

          7  supposed coordination difficulties and seek

          8  increased payment from public funds.

          9                 The inducement for them to work

         10  together and with the public agency to move a

         11  project forward would have been dissipated. The sure

         12  result of this bill have been to considerably

         13  inflate project costs on both Wicks law and

         14  non-Wicks law jobs alike, and to spawn vexatious

         15  litigation.

         16                 It is important to note that despite

         17  the presence of a no-damage delay clause, the New

         18  York State Court of Appeals has carved out very

         19  significant exceptions to the enforceability of the

         20  clause. Thus, a contractor may recover delay damages

         21  despite the presence of the clause where there is:

         22                 1) gross negligence on the part of

         23  the public owner; or.

         24                 2) breach of a fundamental obligation

         25  of the contract by the public owner; or
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          2                 2) a delay that could not reasonably

          3  have been contemplated; or

          4                 4) abandonment of the contract.

          5                 Thus, where a contractor has

          6  demonstrated that delays to a contract fall within

          7  these four exceptions, the City has compensated

          8  contractors for delay damage claims.

          9                 The vetoed bill unwisely broadened

         10  these categories of compensable delays, which would

         11  have resulted in a great cost to the public. Doing

         12  away with this much needed protection would have

         13  cost the City hundreds of millions of dollars more

         14  in judgments and settlement of claims for delays

         15  that are reasonable for a contractor to anticipate.

         16                 In addition, the litigation prospects

         17  are endless. Disputes over whether a delay was

         18  caused by the public owners acts or omissions would

         19  result in years of litigation involving the

         20  reconstruction of complex fact patterns, arising out

         21  of hundreds of construction activities performed

         22  over periods of years and involving voluminous

         23  documentation, including plans and specifications,

         24  contracts, subcontracts, purchase orders, change

         25  orders, correspondence, meeting minutes, shop
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          2  drawings, architectural bulletins, daily reports,

          3  diaries, internal memorandums and schedules.

          4                 It is just such a scenario that the

          5  no-damage-for-delay clause seeks to avoid.

          6                 Furthermore, because of the limited

          7  funds available for construction, public entities

          8  like the City, faced with increased project costs,

          9  might well be forced to cut back on the number and

         10  scope of construction projects.

         11                 Thus, the unintended consequences of

         12  this misguided bill would have been fewer

         13  construction-related jobs in this City.

         14                 Years ago, in a landmark decision,

         15  the New York Court of Appeals upheld the

         16  "no-damages-for-delay" provisions as sound public

         17  policy, pointing out that one of the main purposes

         18  of the provision was to prevent delay.

         19                 The Court stated that:

         20                 "When inserted at the behest of

         21  public agencies, restrained as these almost always

         22  are by limited financial authorizations, the object

         23  of such a clause is not only the usually ascribed

         24  avoidance of "vexatious" litigation as to whether

         25  delays are reasonable or unreasonable, or for that
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          2  matter, real or fancy, but also hopefully, to

          3  discourage dilatoriness itself."

          4                 The no-damages-for-delay clause

          5  serves an important purpose in protecting the public

          6  purse, avoiding protracted litigation and

          7  discouraging delay on public projects. It should not

          8  be disturbed.

          9                 Thank you. That concludes my

         10  testimony, and I will be glad to take any questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         12                 Did you want to testify?

         13                 MS. SCHECHTER: No, I am here to

         14  answer any questions that you might have that I

         15  might assist the Commissioner with.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

         17                 I think a couple of Council members

         18  have indicated they have questions.

         19                 Council Member Fisher.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you,

         21  Madame Chair.

         22                 Commissioner, I guess a two-part

         23  question, and I am trying to formulate it as I say

         24  it, so you will forgive me if it is not as

         25  articulate as your testimony, which I thought was a
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          2  very good statement of the City's position.

          3                 But it seems to me that it must have

          4  the worst of both worlds at this point, that you

          5  have a theoretical no-damages-for-delay that I guess

          6  had some life breathed into it by the Court of

          7  Appeals, but you still have these kind of

          8  exceptions, so whether a contractor is trying to

          9  prove that the public owner was negligent or grossly

         10  negligent, the litigation process isn't that

         11  different, and what the industry I guess would argue

         12  is that because they now have to assume that the

         13  City, well the public entity is not going to do a

         14  good job of managing the project, that the cost is

         15  already bid up.

         16                 In other words, the factor, the

         17  additional costs that you would anticipate if they

         18  could make the claims for delay are kind of bid into

         19  it on the front end and then so that everything goes

         20  up rather than just some jobs going up.

         21                 So, my question I guess is, this

         22  argument has been going on since I took public

         23  contracts I think back in 1975 when we read Maxi

         24  Greenberg's article "It Ain't Necessarily So". I

         25  don't know that we are going to resolve it today,
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          2  but I was wondering if either because of the change

          3  in law, as the courts have evolved and the other

          4  jurisdictions, whether there was any empirical data

          5  showing that prices went up before or after the

          6  Court of Appeals, or any way to quantify what we

          7  were talking about rather than your best judgment

          8  and the best judgment of some of the industry folks,

          9  and secondly, whether the time hadn't come for some

         10  kind of a sort of a conceptual review to see if

         11  there wasn't some other approach.

         12                 I mean, when we were looking at some

         13  of the Wicks Law issues we looked at holding one

         14  prime responsible for the delays that they caused to

         15  another prime, with the notion that assuming you

         16  could make a claim for delay, if you fail to prove

         17  that the delay was yours, was the owner's, if it

         18  turned out the delay was caused by the contractor,

         19  then wouldn't that make them not a responsible

         20  bidder.

         21                 I don't have the answers now, all I

         22  am saying is, one, can we quantify what the impacts

         23  are of doing it one way or the other? And two, do

         24  you think there would be an opportunity for some

         25  type of a fresh approach to trying to deal with the
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          2  issues that are caused?

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I think it

          4  would be very difficult to try to quantify the costs

          5  of, if any, of the decision by the Court of Appeals,

          6  or the decision, the Kalisch-Jarcho Decision in the

          7  courts, prior to the courts actually enforcing the

          8  no-damage-for-delay clause.

          9                 The projects for the most part are so

         10  varied, and this has been going on for such a long

         11  time, we think it would be very difficult to

         12  determine that, and I am not aware of any data that

         13  exists, certainly not in our agency it does not. I

         14  don't know if any other agency is capturing that

         15  data.

         16                 We do believe, however, that, and my

         17  testimony said this, that if there is a cost

         18  associated with the inclusion of a

         19  no-damage-for-delay clause in the contract, that

         20  cost is one which is based on a competitive bid, and

         21  on a competitive mode, where contractors are bidding

         22  against each other, as opposed to the public owner

         23  being captive or being leveraged by the fact that

         24  the contractor in a claim situation there is no

         25  competitive mode. You then enter obviously into a
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          2  negotiation for a settlement.

          3                 So, we believe even if there is,

          4  which we don't believe there is any data that shows

          5  that there is additional costs, if there are it is

          6  under a competitive mode.

          7                 MS. SCHECHTER: If I could supplement

          8  that. In 1983, when the Kalisch-Jarcho Decision came

          9  down from the Court of Appeals, which was the first

         10  decision really that put some teeth into the

         11  no-damage-for-delay clause, prior to that period it

         12  was in effect written out of the contract by the

         13  courts, it simply was not enforced. So, although the

         14  clause was there, contractors were operating and

         15  bidding, as though there were no such clause. And

         16  after that Kalisch-Jarcho Decision there were many

         17  predictions in the contracting community that the

         18  cost of bids was going to significantly rise.

         19                 That was tracked at the time by the

         20  Mayor's Office of Construction and they found no

         21  precipitable rise in the cost of the bids after that

         22  decision.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: As a follow-up

         24  to that, is there a companion provision in the

         25  federal public works construction contracts? Do the
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          2  feds have a no-damages-for-delay clause?

          3                 MS. SCHECHTER: No the feds do not,

          4  but the feds also don't have a Wicks Law. They have

          5  provisions for an equitable adjustment.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: So, let me

          7  just conclude, that is the kind of -- when I say

          8  conceptual review, I mean it is the kind of thing

          9  where maybe that is where you sit down with the

         10  industry and say, well, we would like to talk to you

         11  about the Wick's Law, that has always been on our

         12  agenda, damages for delay is on your agenda, you

         13  know, maybe there is a best practice that we could

         14  identify someplace.

         15                 I am not suggesting that that is the

         16  best solution, I am just suggesting that we might

         17  want to take some fresh looks at this.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         20                 Yes, just following up on that, I am

         21  wondering if you believe, or if you think it would

         22  be helpful if there were damages-for-delay clauses

         23  that were passed that had -- that basically

         24  prevented frivolous claims where the public entity

         25  could turn around and sue the contractors if the
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          2  lawsuit that they brought was deemed frivolous or

          3  without any kind of basis?

          4                 MS. SCHECHTER: Well, I am not sure

          5  how you would define the frivolous claims, you would

          6  have to really define what kinds of claims are

          7  compensable and which are not.

          8                 We feel that with the exceptions that

          9  have been written into the clause by the Court of

         10  Appeals in the Korena Sabetta (phonetic) case, the

         11  contracting out does get compensated for delays that

         12  they fairly should be compensated for. Those are the

         13  delays that are uncontemplated, where the City has

         14  acted in bad faith or negligent, grossly

         15  negligently, or where there are delays that were not

         16  contemplated by the contract.

         17                 So, we feel that the system as it

         18  exists today is fair and contractors are

         19  compensated.

         20                 In fact, some of the contractors who

         21  will speak to you today have been the beneficiary of

         22  receiving large amounts of compensation in

         23  settlements by the Comptroller for delay claims,

         24  because the City made a judgment that they fitted

         25  within the exceptions as set forth in the Korena
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          2  Sabetta case.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: But how difficult

          4  is it for them to actually bear the burden of proof

          5  between the malicious intent or gross or willful

          6  negligence? Do they get compensated from that very

          7  often or?

          8                 MS. SCHECHTER: Well, that is a heavy

          9  burden to show because the City does not frequently

         10  act maliciously or in bad faith.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Right.

         12                 MS. SCHECHTER: But on the other hand,

         13  uncontemplated delays have been a frequent source of

         14  the basis for settlement of claims.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: How often does

         16  that happen?

         17                 Isn't the argument that that is

         18  usually within the contemplation of the contract

         19  itself, that there will be some delays?

         20                 MS. SCHECHTER: I am sorry, I don't

         21  quite understand the question.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, you were

         23  saying that they do get compensated in some cases,

         24  but that is part of the contract, isn't it?

         25                 MS. SCHECHTER: No, it is not in the
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          2  contract. It is a settlement recognizing the

          3  exceptions that are set forth in the Korena Sabetta

          4  case.

          5                 For instance, the City will

          6  compensate a contractor if the contractor has been

          7  prevented from starting work on the site, cannot get

          8  to the site, or if a stop work order goes on for an

          9  unreasonable length of time and the contractor

         10  cannot get onto the site and do its work.

         11                 And if the City feels that there is

         12  evidence that there was bad faith, or there was

         13  gross negligence, that will be a basis for

         14  settlement also, and it has happened.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Because what I am

         16  concerned about is the idea, or is the possibility,

         17  I mean the argument of course is that the

         18  municipality doesn't want to pay for claims on

         19  ending litigation but the other side of that is,

         20  would we, could we potentially increase competition

         21  if we could get more contractors to actually bid on

         22  these jobs? And how many of the smaller companies

         23  bid or how many of them don't bid simply because

         24  they are afraid that there will be delays or

         25  problems with the City entity, and do you think, or
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          2  is it possible that the City entities themselves

          3  would be a little more responsible and have their

          4  ducks lined up more if there were delays for

          5  damages?

          6                 MS. SCHECHTER: Well, I think there

          7  were three questions there. One was, would we get

          8  more competition if we didn't have a

          9  no-damage-for-delay clause. Again, that was tracked

         10  after the Kalisch-Jarcho Decision to see whether

         11  there was going to be a decrease in the pool of

         12  bidders, and that didn't occur. We still kept up our

         13  pool of bidders.

         14                 I have forgotten the second part. The

         15  third part was whether or not this would -- putting

         16  a damage-for-delay clause in the contract would

         17  impel the City to move the project more quickly. I

         18  would submit that there is no party more anxious

         19  than the City or any public owner to get the

         20  projects done on time.

         21                 These are sorely needed public

         22  projects whose need has been felt usually 18 months

         23  before the first shovel is in the ground. The public

         24  agency wants the job to move quickly. It doesn't

         25  need the impetus of payment maybe five years down
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          2  the line to get them to move that project, it is the

          3  impetus of the community needs, often federal

          4  mandates that keeps the public owner anxious to get

          5  its projects completed as quickly as possible, I am

          6  sure the Commissioner can amply testify to that.

          7                 The problem is, in fact the point

          8  that the Commissioner has made is that this clause

          9  acts as an impetus to the contractor not to delay

         10  the job, not to hold the contract hostage because he

         11  is fighting over whether or not a change order is

         12  justified, or there is a Wicks Law problem where two

         13  contractors are fighting over who should do the work

         14  or who is responsible and they sit and wait.

         15                 If they know they are not going to

         16  get paid for delay at the end, and be able to just

         17  tack that on to their extra work claim, the impetus

         18  to work together and cooperate is greater so that as

         19  the Court of Appeals said, it discourages delay

         20  having such a clause in the contract.

         21                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: If I just may

         22  add one point. In terms of the competition, one of

         23  the concerns that we have regarding not having a

         24  no-damages-for delay clause in our contracts, is

         25  that there are many contractors who would bid our
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          2  projects with the intent of not putting into their

          3  bid the amount of money necessary to complete the

          4  project with the expectation that the way that the

          5  profit margin would be generated would be on the

          6  backs of a claim. And there were, prior to the no

          7  damages delay being enforced, many contractors whose

          8  modus operandi was exactly that, was to include very

          9  little profit into their contracts, if any, and into

         10  their bids, thereby putting other contractors that

         11  were fair contractors and honest contractors who in

         12  order to deliver the project understood that they

         13  had to put in a certain amount of money into their

         14  bid, putting those contractors in a position where

         15  they would not be competitive. And it began to put

         16  the City in a position where good contractors would

         17  not bid on the work because they could not be

         18  competitive.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Yes, Council

         20  Member Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This area that

         22  you just described doesn't make sense, and I will

         23  tell you why. It is the responsibility of government

         24  who is bidding a project to review that bid and if

         25  that bid is showing you clearly that the profit that
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          2  the contractor is making doesn't make sense, then

          3  why do you grant the contract to begin with? And why

          4  the process doesn't have a procedure in which

          5  identifies that kind of contractor who from the

          6  get-go is engaging in unfair practices to eliminate

          7  the competition doing this? Why then the City or the

          8  government grant that contract to that particular

          9  contractor knowing very well that the profits is

         10  unreal, is not accurate? Because if you can say that

         11  here it is because you know that the particular bid

         12  doesn't make sense.

         13                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: And in many

         14  cases it didn't and we have been putting in place

         15  today many things that look at contractors' bids and

         16  contractors' qualifications in order to deal with

         17  that particular problem.

         18                 However, because of the public

         19  bidding laws which require that the City must make a

         20  determination and any other public owner make a

         21  determination whether or not a contractor is the

         22  responsible low bidder or not and the onus is on us

         23  to make that determination, and it is not upon the

         24  contractor necessarily to prove that to us but for

         25  us to make that determination, and when we make that
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          2  determination there is an appeal process to that as

          3  well, it is a very difficult threshold to cross to

          4  find a contractor not responsible, and in many cases

          5  it is very difficult for us to make a determination

          6  and say to a contractor that you are non-responsible

          7  because you are not entitled to lose money on a

          8  project. That is very difficult from a public

          9  perspective when we have oversights at every level

         10  that look at the contract and say, well, if you

         11  could get this contract for $100,000, when we are

         12  building projects for the Council, and we have small

         13  projects, this comes into play constantly. We have

         14  small library projects, we don't do parks but other

         15  projects as well where the funds are very limited

         16  and there is great tendency to put pressure on the

         17  people who are making those decisions to award those

         18  contracts to the low bidder because someone sees,

         19  well, if I can get this project in for $50,000, why

         20  would the agency award it for $75,000, when many

         21  times the agency is trying to convince people that

         22  in fact the $75,000 is the appropriate contractor.

         23  But that level of making the determination of

         24  whether or not you are a responsible bidder, is a

         25  very difficult one to make and it cannot only be
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          2  made on the basis of a price being low.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, I will

          4  tell you something, sir. If somebody tried to sell

          5  me a pair of shoes that I know that they are $100

          6  and they keep telling me I will give it to you for

          7  25, I know that something is very wrong as an

          8  elected official, and I would know very clearly that

          9  to buy that pair of shoes implies something that is

         10  not quite right somewhere in there. And I don't

         11  understand how this process can go on when there are

         12  provisions in place to make sure, for example, that

         13  somebody don't come with a proposal of I build the

         14  structure for $100,000 when we very well know that

         15  it takes $200,000 to build.

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: May I?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         18                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: If we were in

         19  the private sector and if I were managing a private

         20  development company, I would agree with you that I,

         21  too, would not by $100 pair of shoes for $25. I

         22  would look to several shoe salesmen and I would sit

         23  down and find out what is the best price that I can

         24  get for the best quality, and not necessarily the

         25  lowest price for whatever standard of quality is now
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          2  being accepted.

          3                 As a public entity we must accept by

          4  law where the private sector does not the lowest

          5  responsible bidder.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Responsible.

          7                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct. But

          8  responsibility does not simply lie on the basis of

          9  the bid, and if a contractor, where this argument

         10  has been made to us before, if a contractor chooses

         11  to give the City a gift, are we in the position, if

         12  that is the only item of responsibility, as a test

         13  of responsibility are we in a position not to accept

         14  that gift? Or if there is no profit and we see that

         15  the project has been bid only at the cost of what it

         16  costs the contractor to deliver that project, are we

         17  in the position to say to that contractor, you will

         18  not be given that contract, I am going to give that

         19  contract to another contractor who has a higher

         20  profit margin than you do.

         21                 I would say to you respectfully that

         22  we are not in the position to say that. Obviously if

         23  it is a gross -- if it is a $100 pair of shoes and

         24  they are trying to sell it to us for $25, we won't

         25  buy the shoes. But if it is $100 pair of shoes for
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          2  $85, we will probably buy it knowing that it is

          3  costing that person $15 more to make those shoes.

          4  Unfortunately that is the position we are in.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Something is

          6  very wrong with this area that you just described to

          7  me.

          8                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We would love

          9  to speak to you about changing the public bidding

         10  law and having the same flexibility that any

         11  developer in the City of New York has. We would love

         12  to talk to you about that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you believe

         14  that the private sector and public sector should be

         15  held to the same standards when it comes down to

         16  complying with timetables?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Absolutely.

         18  Absolutely. But therefore, we should also as the

         19  public sector, should be given the same level of

         20  flexibility that the private sector has, and we do

         21  not have that because we have certain restraints and

         22  constraints because we are a pubic entity and we

         23  understand that we have to work within those. And it

         24  is because of those constraints and restraints that

         25  we have such things as the no-damage-for delay

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  clause in our contracts.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, I think some

          5  of this is like a chicken and an egg approach. I

          6  mean, we are fall familiar I think with contracts

          7  that are bid that default, that are not finished

          8  within time, and sometimes it is because the

          9  contractor underbids and they can't complete the

         10  process and we are stuck with an unfinished park or

         11  an unfinished roadway or something.

         12                 But then there is the other side of

         13  that which is what today's hearing looks at where

         14  the City basically screws up and the contractor is

         15  ready to go and willing to perform but it is the

         16  City's error and I am just looking at a couple of

         17  things, and let me just cite a few examples, like

         18  the Wallman Rink (phonetic), where the project was

         19  delayed for 15 months while the City decided what

         20  type stonefacing to use on the lower curb roll

         21  (phonetic) of the rink.

         22                 Or where the Manhattan Criminal

         23  Court, and this is still happening today, where

         24  there was a notice received that was issued in

         25  November of '91 where the construction time was an
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          2  estimated three years, but the work is still only 77

          3  percent completed and it is because of the failure

          4  to vacate work areas. So, it is already at least

          5  three and a half years behind schedule and that is

          6  something that is totally out of the control of the

          7  contractor.

          8                 There have been other things, the

          9  Staten Island ferry, for instance, where work halted

         10  because the City didn't get a US Army Corps of

         11  Engineers permit for the work to begin, the City

         12  refused to compensate the contractor for delay and

         13  the contractor refused to start work without

         14  compensation.

         15                 So, in that case the City terminated

         16  the contract and relet it and it caused a lot of

         17  delay. And there are similar things in every

         18  borough.

         19                 There is the Franklin Avenue Shuttle

         20  where there was an error in design for one of the

         21  bridges, where the Metropolitan Pool and Bath House,

         22  the City delayed two years between the award of the

         23  date and the notice to proceed, where there was a

         24  problem where the construction wasn't completed on

         25  schedule. You know, there are a lot of times where

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  the City, as I said, basically for whatever reasons,

          3  there is a problem, we miscalculate, we don't get

          4  the proper permits in order, we start out with, I

          5  think at St. John the Divine there was a problem

          6  with the type of pipe which delayed things because

          7  the furnished pipe dimensions were wrong. It happens

          8  a lot.

          9                 What happens in a case like that and

         10  how often do they actually, does the contractor

         11  actually finally get the -- they get the

         12  construction site, you know, they get it finished

         13  but it is very delayed?

         14                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I was just

         15  going to add that I am glad to see that none of the

         16  projects that you cited are from my agency.

         17                 I will let Marilyn speak to the other

         18  question.

         19                 MS. SCHECHTER: Well, most of those

         20  types of delays that you just described, like the

         21  failure to get the permit, are just the kinds of

         22  delays that come within the exception of the

         23  no-damage-for-delay clause.  Under Korena Sabetta it

         24  was the failure to give the site, the uncontemplated

         25  delay or a fundamental obligation or whatever you
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          2  wish to characterize it as. And the fact of the

          3  matter is, with those kinds of delays does pay. It

          4  doesn't pay it as a change order with the agency

          5  paying the change order, it is paid as a claim

          6  because I think in the end that is a better process

          7  for the City. There is more control, there are more

          8  layers of control over how much money is being

          9  spent.

         10                 It is very easy for an agency to

         11  throw, if allowed to, to just pay off the contractor

         12  to get the project going. When we deal with it as a

         13  claim, the Comptroller's Office, there is more of a

         14  review of the kinds of cost, there is an analysis,

         15  very sophisticated analysis of the actual damages,

         16  much more than the agency has the capacity or the

         17  personnel to analyze.

         18                 So, the City's, the public fisk is

         19  served better by having this kind of claim dealt

         20  with by the Comptroller as a claim rather than as a

         21  change order.

         22                 But that kind of delay is actually

         23  compensated under the claim mode.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. But I mean,

         25  I mentioned the Staten Island Ferry where we didn't,
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          2  I mean the City didn't get a clearance from the U.S.

          3  Army Corps of Engineers and in that case the City

          4  didn't want to compensate the contractor.

          5                 MS. SCHECHTER: Well, the contractor

          6  could have performed the work and made a claim with

          7  the Comptroller. The contractor chose, for whatever

          8  reason, not to do that, chose to refuse to perform.

          9  That was the contractor's choice.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Could he perform

         11  it before we got the proper permit?

         12                 MS. SCHECHTER: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Wouldn't that hold

         14  him up to some sort of additional liability?

         15                 MS. SCHECHTER: He would have had a

         16  delay claim and he could have brought that to the

         17  Comptroller.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Council Member

         19  Eristoff.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Yes. I just

         21  wanted to follow up and try to clarify something.

         22                 Commissioner, when you were talking

         23  about the mechanics of the lower, lowest responsible

         24  bidder public bidding statutes, isn't it true that

         25  occasionally there will be a loss leader-type
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          2  situation (phonetic), the contractor may want to

          3  break into the governmental contracting world and

          4  may in fact accept smaller margins, perhaps

          5  aggressive margins, in order to establish a track

          6  record; doesn't that happen in this --

          7                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Yes.

          9                 And secondly, if you were to feel

         10  that a contractor was underbidding, going beyond

         11  simply being aggressive but going in with what is

         12  tantamount to a bad faith bid, any you were to, as

         13  an agency assert that the bidder was non-responsive,

         14  not responsible, wouldn't you find yourself in

         15  court? Wouldn't the City find itself in court

         16  potentially over that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes. And it

         18  happens actually quite often. And what I had said

         19  before is that we now have a practice of being much

         20  more aggressive about finding contractors not

         21  responsible or non-responsive.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So, in

         23  essence, they kind of get us coming and going, if

         24  the us is the public taxpayers?

         25                 In other words, if we do the right
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          2  thing and disqualify somebody on the basis that we

          3  know intuitively that they are engaging in bad faith

          4  practice, we are going to wind up in court and we

          5  will probably lose because governments always seem

          6  to lose, and then on the other hand, however, if we

          7  go forward and the bad faith bid turns out to be

          8  just that and the work isn't completed, we wind up

          9  in court again, right?

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         11  correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So, in fact,

         13  we have kind of a catch 22 situation presented to us

         14  by the general municipal law and the New York State

         15  Finance Law?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, we do.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So, why

         18  would we want to do that again by passing a bill to

         19  remove the no-damages-for delay clause?

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Obviously that

         21  is what articulated the argument as to why we would

         22  not want it removed.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. I just

         24  wanted to clarify that in my mind.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Are there

          4  any City agencies that do have delay-for-damage

          5  provisions, like the State Office of General

          6  Services or State DOT?

          7                 MS. SCHECHTER: Those are not City

          8  agencies.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: No, I am saying

         10  are there City agencies with similar provisions?

         11                 MS. SCHECHTER: No, they don't.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you know what

         13  their record is? I mean, have they been hit unduly

         14  by lawsuits?

         15                 MS. SCHECHTER: I have no knowledge of

         16  what their record is.

         17                 Although, I would note that they

         18  rather recently have adopted these provisions, so it

         19  is perhaps premature even to assess what the cost is

         20  and the total effects.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you have any

         22  idea what can be done to minimize delays when the

         23  delays are caused by the public entities, other than

         24  through legislation?

         25                 MS. SCHECHTER: Well, I think one of
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          2  the big, big problems with construction contracts

          3  with the public entity is the approval and payment

          4  of change orders. And out of this issue that many of

          5  the delays arise because the contractor will refuse

          6  to go ahead until he is guaranteed the payment.

          7                 Unfortunately, the City and very

          8  often other public entities is burned layers of

          9  bureaucracy and approvals in order to again to

         10  safeguard the public fisk, but perhaps that is an

         11  area that can be looked into.

         12                 I think that if contractors were paid

         13  quickly for the change orders, if they could be

         14  assured swift payment, I think many of the problems

         15  between the public owner and the contractor would be

         16  alleviated and I think that is a fertile area to

         17  look into.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: That might be

         19  something we can look at.

         20                 Does somebody track the times for

         21  like change orders or this type of problem and could

         22  we make it part of the Mayor's MMR or something like

         23  that to see if there are agencies that seem to

         24  experience a lot of delays in contracts where it may

         25  be a problem with the entity as opposed to the
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          2  contractor?

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, we track

          4  the amount of time our change orders take us to

          5  process.

          6                 I would also like to add that in

          7  terms of delays, probably more than anything else

          8  that would help us and help the contractors is just

          9  the quality of the design work that we put out to

         10  bid to begin with, and the clarity of that design

         11  work and how comprehensive the design work is so

         12  that the contractors are aware up front of what the

         13  expectations are. There are always situations that

         14  regardless of how experienced an architect or an

         15  engineer is, that you could not contemplate and you

         16  could not have foreseen, that no one could foresee,

         17  and those we think are well covered under the

         18  current no damage for delay Court of Appeals

         19  Decision.

         20                 The design area and the clarity of

         21  the design is something that I think all of the

         22  agencies continue to strive to get a higher level of

         23  quality in those designs. There is a lot of issues

         24  related to that, in terms of compensation to the

         25  consultants and to the consultant community, which
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          2  they are being dealt with, but I think probably more

          3  than anything else, that is one of the areas that

          4  the public agency should continue to strive to

          5  improve so as to minimize the delays that are

          6  created during construction period.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you find that

          8  VENDEX is helpful in that? I mean, do the agencies

          9  go back and basically report if they have had good

         10  or bad experiences with designers?

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Oh,

         12  absolutely. And there is -- each agency, which

         13  obviously is reported to VENDEX, is certainly a part

         14  of VENDEX, which is the performance evaluations for

         15  both the designers and for the contractors, it is

         16  one of the best tools that we have at the agency

         17  level to make a determination as to whether a

         18  contractor or a consultant should continue to get

         19  work from the City. That is very important to us.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, I think that

         21  is it.

         22                 Oh, by the way, no one got a page

         23  seven of your testimony.

         24                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I am sorry?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Page seven was
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          2  left out.

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Oh, we did

          4  that on purpose.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: You just wanted to

          6  see if we were paying attention.

          7                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Very good.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We will get

         11  you page seven.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Yes, we actually

         13  would want it for the record.

         14                 Okay, and I believe there is a

         15  statement from the Manhattan Borough President by

         16  Michael Ganz. You don't look like a Michael Ganz.

         17                 MS. ALLEN: I am Barbara Allen, Deputy

         18  Director of Economic Affairs for Borough President

         19  Virginia Fields.

         20                 The Borough President asked me to

         21  please come and make the following statement on her

         22  behalf today.

         23                 On behalf of Manhattan Borough

         24  President Virginia Fields, I would like to present

         25  some comments concerning government responsibility

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  for delays in public contracts.

          3                 The Borough President appreciates the

          4  opportunity to offer these remarks. While Borough

          5  President Fields fully appreciates the laudable goal

          6  of making government more accountable and business

          7  friendly, the question before us today is whether

          8  there is a need for change concerning damages for

          9  delays involving public works.

         10                 First, we are all aware of the

         11  problems caused by construction delays, basically

         12  the destruction to our communities. Construction

         13  delays are caused by many factors, intemperate

         14  weather, scheduling conflicts, material supply

         15  problems and unanticipated site conditions and so

         16  forth. Some of these problems are typical for any

         17  business, some are peculiar to the construction

         18  industry.

         19                 However, the City does have

         20  well-established policies dealing with extra or

         21  disputed work arising out of delays not caused by

         22  the contractor. The change order system, Dispute

         23  Resolution Board and Comptroller's Office are some

         24  of the vehicles where disagreements regarding

         25  construction delays are resolved.
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          2                 A proposed amendment to State Finance

          3  Law 138-b, recently vetoed by the Governor, would

          4  have mandated the inclusion of any overreaching and

          5  ill-defined culpability clause in state and

          6  municipal construction contracts.

          7                 Any proposed legislation, whether at

          8  the state or local level that embraces government

          9  accountability in such overbroad terms as those

         10  which were proposed is not sound. Excusable delays

         11  inherent in any construction contract must be

         12  reviewed on a case by case basis before damages are

         13  imposed.

         14                 Finally, to summarize, I again remind

         15  you on behalf of the Borough President that the

         16  underlying purpose of a change to our public

         17  contract laws must arise out of a real need for

         18  change. Is there a need for a change at this time?

         19  We do not believe so, but today's forum to discuss

         20  this issue further is clearly valuable.

         21                 We thank you again for the

         22  opportunity to present these views.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         25                 Next we are going to be calling Frank
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          2  McArdle, and Edward Cruz, from the General

          3  Contractors Association.

          4                 All right, if you would raise your

          5  right hand.

          6                 Do you swear to tell the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. McARDLE: I do.

          9                 MR. CRUZ: I do.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you. And

         11  then just state your name for the record and please

         12  proceed.

         13                 MR. McARDLE: My name is Frank

         14  McArdle, I am the Managing Director of the General

         15  Contractors Association.

         16                 MR. CRUZ: I am Ed Cruz, President of

         17  EE Cruz and Company. A contractor doing work in the

         18  City.

         19                 MR. McARDLE: Thank you very much,

         20  Madame Chairwoman.

         21                 We are very pleased that you have had

         22  this hearing today on this issue. It is an issue

         23  that has vexed the construction industry for many

         24  years, most specifically since the decision in the

         25  Kalisch-Jarcho case, and it is one that has been the
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          2  subject of a long-running debate between the City

          3  and the contracting community.

          4                 I have submitted written testimony to

          5  you to incorporate in the record.

          6                 With me today is Ed Cruz, is one of

          7  the premiere heavy construction contractors in New

          8  York City. He has done many projects in many

          9  boroughs in the City of New York. He has worked in

         10  the Bronx, he has worked in Brooklyn and in Queens

         11  and in Manhattan and in Staten Island.

         12                 There is very few contractors in the

         13  heavy construction business of doing roads and

         14  watermains and sewers who have done as much work in

         15  as many different locations in the City of New York,

         16  as has Ed in his firm, and he has much to offer in

         17  the area of delay issues.

         18                 I would simply like to summarize my

         19  testimony very quickly by pointing out to you that

         20  the City of New York has in many cases changed its

         21  practices and its policies only after it has been

         22  compelled to measure its failures and to have those

         23  measure of failures made public, most notably in the

         24  area of delayed payments to vendors.

         25                 When the City didn't have to pay for
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          2  delayed payments, it didn't do very much to cure the

          3  problem. It gave the same arguments you heard today:

          4  We can't worry about that, so we want you to include

          5  all of the risk of delayed payment in your bid

          6  price. We think you are very sophisticated, you can

          7  guess effectively how long we will delay your

          8  payment and you should finance the cost of money in

          9  your bid. In reality people could not do that. And

         10  the Charter was changed in 1989 to mandate the City

         11  pay interest when it delayed payments. When it did,

         12  it started measuring those delays and when it

         13  measured those delays and made them public, the City

         14  moved very quickly, agencies as well as the overhead

         15  agencies, to change the City's practices top to

         16  bottom, and they eliminated those delays.

         17                 We believe if you eliminate this

         18  clause, you will in fact have the same effect. And

         19  in particular in our business, which is not a Wick's

         20  Law business, it is a single contract business,

         21  impacting in communities with water main projects,

         22  sewers, roads, that delays that occur that hurt

         23  communities when the City agencies don't make

         24  decisions, they will be reengineered out of the

         25  process.
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          2                 You listened to Commissioner Tormenta

          3  tell you that there aren't very many of them. Even

          4  the fewest of them need to be eliminated and they

          5  are most effectively eliminated when the City is

          6  motivated to eliminate them and we know the City is

          7  only motivated to eliminate something that can end

          8  up in the press because it is measured and

          9  publicized.

         10                 The City likes the no damages clause

         11  because it means their mistakes are never measured,

         12  never possibly the subject of a press story.

         13                 Why do they like the claims process,

         14  with a few exceptions that were carved out in

         15  Korena-Sabetta? Because it happened at the end of

         16  the job, at the far end, not when things happen but

         17  at the far end, when the City can in fact negotiate

         18  its way around all of the problems that it has

         19  created.

         20                 It is interesting to note in one

         21  recent circumstance the City was compelled by its

         22  own logic to address the early issue, it did so and

         23  did so very effectively, that is in specific

         24  language affecting delays in bridge contracts.

         25                 But generally speaking, the City
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          2  works fastest when there is the chance of public

          3  scrutiny. We like that. We would like to have that

          4  clause out so there would be public scrutiny of the

          5  delays so that they will get them out of the

          6  process. That is going to help every community that

          7  has ever been affected by a job delayed because the

          8  City hasn't done its job. And there are many

          9  circumstances in which the City doesn't do its job.

         10                 A simple example for you is in fact

         11  in the improvement of water main shop drawings.

         12  Recently there were only one or two people who did

         13  that. When they were on vacation, nothing happened.

         14  Things just piled up. Contractors waited and

         15  communities waited. That is just not the way it

         16  should be.

         17                 It is interesting that you heard from

         18  Commissioner Tormenta something that we would agree,

         19  there are problems in the plans and specs. A lot of

         20  the issues that we are dealing with in delays are

         21  issues where they have not done sufficient pre-job

         22  investigation, where they have not done the kind of

         23  pre-job design effort that they should do. That is

         24  in Commissioner Tormenta's control. If he had to pay

         25  for the delays associated with the putting out of
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          2  bad plans and specs, he wouldn't do that. He would

          3  make sure they were right before they went out the

          4  door. Right now he has no incentive and as he told

          5  you, bad plans, that's okay, I put them out anyway,

          6  that is just not the way to do business.

          7                 We think you can make a change, and

          8  it is a very important change. You heard Councilman

          9  Eristoff talk about the whole notion of a loss

         10  leader, that people somehow are willing to provide a

         11  loss leader to get into the City business.

         12  Unfortunately, those loss leaders are most often

         13  small contractors, minority contractors, who really

         14  don't understand what the City is requiring. They

         15  don't understand how the City can delay things, and

         16  their loss leader is often the loss of their home or

         17  their savings, as they do try to get into a business

         18  that is very successful for some people and a way

         19  for people to in fact advance themselves in the City

         20  and become people of stability and contribution to

         21  their community.

         22                 We urge you to consider this matter

         23  carefully.  We think there is enough track record on

         24  the substance of this matter to require action by

         25  the Council.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

          4                 Mr. Cruz.

          5                 MR. CRUZ: Yes. I would like to

          6  respond to a couple of comments that were made by

          7  Commissioner Tormenta, but before I do that I would

          8  just like to say that if our objective is to do away

          9  with delays, unnecessary delays and construction,

         10  the very best possible way is to have both parties

         11  to the contract have something at stake in

         12  eliminating or avoiding those delays.

         13                 It comes down to the issue of

         14  accountability. Right now the City of New York is

         15  not accountable for delays caused by them, unless

         16  they are so egregious and in a narrowly defined

         17  area, that usually through a court case,

         18  necessitating court case, we can prove our case.

         19                 That kind of situation, this lack of

         20  accountability on the City's part, does a disservice

         21  to all of the communities that we work in.

         22                 We have time and time again in our

         23  contracts, and I have been doing work in the City

         24  since 1978, it has been over 20 years in all of the

         25  boroughs, and we have had numerous examples of
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          2  delays that really we can go back and attribute to

          3  just a lack of impetus by the City to address some

          4  of those concerns.

          5                 I have a job right now that we are

          6  doing out in Queens that we were delayed three

          7  months at the very beginning for a lack of a permit

          8  that was the obligation of the City. Those things

          9  are not recoverable.

         10                 Mr. Tormenta said that he is willing

         11  to accept the risk of higher bids, I hate to tell

         12  him this, but it is not a risk, it is a fact. The

         13  bids do come in higher because we have to cover

         14  ourselves for these delays.

         15                 But even more important than that is

         16  the fact that this kind of situation results in

         17  fewer bidders, fewer quality bidders working for the

         18  City. People, especially under the tougher jobs, and

         19  it may not be in every job, people don't just pack

         20  up and not work for the City, if we are in this

         21  business, we have to work for the City, but on the

         22  tougher jobs where there is more of a chance of a

         23  delay, more of a chance of unknowns, more of a

         24  chance of having to prolong interruption to the

         25  work, the potential for that, people will turn away
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          2  from bidding a job like that, good quality

          3  contractors.

          4                 So, it is not just out of the

          5  goodness of people's hearts that all of these

          6  agencies that contract work, Army Corps of

          7  Engineers, all the agencies of the federal

          8  government, agencies of the State government, the

          9  School Construction administrations, the OGS, the

         10  State DOT, the New Jersey State DOT, the New Jersey

         11  Turnpike Authority, the ones that we are familiar

         12  with in this metropolitan area, it is not just by

         13  the goodness of their heart that they have a

         14  damages-for-delay clause. They have it because it

         15  makes sense. It makes them and their engineers

         16  accountable. It makes them give us quality and

         17  clarity plans.

         18                 The one thing that Commissioner

         19  Tormenta spoke about, if the plans are clear and of

         20  high quality, there is less of a chance for damages.

         21                 The comment about delays, real or

         22  fantasy, does not hold water either. The language in

         23  the bill that was proposed is very tight language,

         24  there is a very high bar of proof that is put on the

         25  contractors and so this really is not an issue. And
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          2  just proposing or filing a claim for delays does not

          3  make it so and does not stop the job.

          4                 You file a claim and the job goes on,

          5  it is just a way of getting compensated for

          6  something that, an impact that you have incurred.

          7                 The comment about contractors lower

          8  their profit margins or bidding below cost and

          9  recovering profit on the back of delays, delay

         10  recovery, just stands common sense on its head.

         11                 Anybody who would try to conduct

         12  business in that way in the City would not last more

         13  than one job. There is no way any responsible

         14  business man would be a job at below cost with the

         15  expectation that he is going to make it up on a

         16  court case, or in a claim, that could take years to

         17  litigate, I mean this is just absolutely ridiculous

         18  comment to make.

         19                 As far as the comment about the City

         20  recognizing exceptions and somehow paying us for

         21  some of the most egregious circumstances, the

         22  problem with that is that it creates a guessing

         23  game. The contractor does not know, the contractor

         24  doesn't know how he is going to be treated. Agency

         25  by agency the rules change, the bar level changes,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  it becomes an arbitrary game that either gets

          3  resolved in very time-consuming negotiations or ends

          4  up being a court case. Either one of those is not

          5  fair and does not really give us what we are looking

          6  for, this accountability going in, the

          7  accountability so that the City comes out with a

          8  good set of plans, responds promptly to problems on

          9  the job, gives us decisions, gets us those permits,

         10  this is what the damage for delay bill would give

         11  us, and that is what we want. We want that at the

         12  onset, during the course of the job so we can all

         13  benefit from it.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         16                 I am just wondering, you said that

         17  you are bidding a job right now that has been

         18  delayed for three months because there were no

         19  permits. What actually happens in a case like that?

         20                 MR. CRUZ: No, we have the job. We are

         21  doing the job, but the job was delayed for three

         22  months.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: So, essentially

         24  you have a crew there and you simply can't get --

         25                 MR. CRUZ: Well, in this particular
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          2  case, at the beginning of the job we just avoided

          3  manning it to the level that we would normally man

          4  it, so we mitigate our expense. But there is an

          5  expense of field office costs, support costs, there

          6  are people on the job even though there is no

          7  production going on, there are costs.

          8                 That kind of situation, if it happens

          9  in the middle of a job, then it is even more costly

         10  because then you have the workmen, the operators and

         11  the laborers and the different people, trade people

         12  on the job. So, if it is in the middle of a job it

         13  is more costly. At the beginning of a job you can

         14  mitigate it to some extent by not mobilizing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And in a case like

         16  that, what do you do then, file a claim against the

         17  City?

         18                 MR. CRUZ: In a case like that we

         19  don't even bother to, with a three month delay. We

         20  don't even bother because the cost to try to recover

         21  that would be more than I could ever expect to get.

         22                 But who suffers is the community

         23  because the community lost that three months.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you know what

         25  the current status of the bill in the state is?
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          2                 MR. CRUZ: I think --

          3                 MR. McARDLE: The bill was vetoed.

          4  There are a variety of different proposals being

          5  circulated. The Governor did give us a roadmap in

          6  his veto message, it focused on clarity and

          7  definition, although again that is work for

          8  attorneys I think. Many people, including the

          9  attorneys that were helping shape the bill, but they

         10  were using terms well defined in the court.

         11                 Clearly the issue of the Wicks Law is

         12  significant, but, again, I would point out to you

         13  the work is done by the heavy construction industry

         14  in New York, it particularly affects communities,

         15  you know, is not Wicks Law work and yet we have many

         16  delays on watermain and sewer jobs because the City

         17  doesn't act and they have even a greater impact on

         18  communities in many cases than do the Wicks Law job.

         19                 The Governor laid out a roadmap and

         20  we had hoped that legislation can be shaped that

         21  will in fact kind of follow that roadmap to success.

         22                 That would certainly help the heavy

         23  construction industry in New York City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you know if

         25  there is a history of -- I mean, is there usually

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  litigation on all of these jobs?

          3                 MR. McARDLE: Well, in many cases, and

          4  I think Mr. Cruz put it most directly, the problem

          5  of seeking relief is that you are seeking it at the

          6  end of the job. It then becomes a paperchase, it

          7  then becomes an issue for attorneys, and quite

          8  frankly, contractors, and specifically in our

          9  industry, such as Mr. Cruz, are by training civil

         10  engineers and they mobilize to do work successively,

         11  so that when they complete a job, quite often they

         12  have already bid and secured the work that they will

         13  redeploy their crews to.

         14                 I mean, quite frankly, one of the

         15  real problems with delays is all of your plans for

         16  further jobs or other jobs get held up because

         17  suddenly one job is delayed, it becomes a

         18  paperchase, and quite often it simply becomes

         19  something that takes away from the job and there are

         20  contracts which simply aren't interested in in fact

         21  following that claim because it is so late in the

         22  job, it takes your time away from doing your current

         23  work, and a lot of claims are just never filed, and

         24  particularly for the smallest contractors, for the

         25  new contractors, for the minority contractors who
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          2  are working for HPD, working for DDC on small jobs,

          3  they don't have the money to pay an attorney or even

          4  retain an attorney to examine the case.

          5                 The City has no simple mechanism for

          6  dealing with those people. They go to the Law

          7  Department and to the Comptroller's Office in the

          8  same fashion as the largest of contractors. They

          9  don't have those resources. And this is what is

         10  really difficult about the circumstances that exist

         11  now, and I know that case after case in which small

         12  contractors working for the City of New York who

         13  have put their credit cards, their homes, every

         14  aspect they have into keeping their jobs, at the end

         15  of it find themselves with no resources whatsoever

         16  because they have been delayed, they can't get the

         17  job done, they can't earn, and there is no way for

         18  them to recover, just no way.

         19                 I would have had with me today other

         20  than for the flu, a minority contractor, a member of

         21  the association, who could tell that story. As I

         22  would have had George Fox, who is also ill today, to

         23  tell the story of the very largest contractors. This

         24  is an issue that spans the spectrum. The larger

         25  contractors may have the resilience, many smaller
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          2  contractors don't have that resilience to learn

          3  about the City, because at the end of the day what

          4  the City is asking a civil engineer like Ed Cruz to

          5  do, is first of all to place the work, and he can do

          6  that. He has got expertise, both academic and

          7  practical. Then they ask him to price how badly the

          8  City will screw up, and that is a pure guess. I

          9  mean, you probably have to be a mystic and not a

         10  civil engineer to guess how badly the City will

         11  screw up and what it will cost you. That is what

         12  they are asking.

         13                 Now, you do, by the way, get time

         14  extensions, but you don't get money. And the

         15  question you might want to put to the Commissioner,

         16  as well as to the representative of the Law

         17  Department, out of all of the time extension that

         18  they grant, and they are granted in a very complex

         19  process, how thoroughly do they examine and analyze

         20  those delays and how do they use those delays to

         21  reengineer the system. I believe the answer to be

         22  they don't do anything. They get them, they grant

         23  them, but they never make use of those as a way of

         24  analyzing their problems and fixing their problems.

         25                 Why? It doesn't cost them anything.
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          2  Just pass it on.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, I was just

          5  wondering if you have any knowledge of what

          6  contracts, working for the State Office of

          7  Administrative Services or State DOT, where they

          8  have a damages-for-delay provision that is adopted;

          9  do you find that there is a difference?

         10                 MR. McARDLE:  It is fair to say, and

         11  the General Contractors Association represents the

         12  contractors who do work for State DOT, as well as

         13  for the City of New York, that give a preference, my

         14  members prefer to work for State DOT. State DOT

         15  solves the problems and compensates contractors

         16  promptly. They have to in fact bid harder to get

         17  work with State DOT because State DOT, here in

         18  region 11, New York City, is a preferred owner. In

         19  the same fashion they like to work for the Port

         20  Authority, which is a preferred owner. If given a

         21  choice, if there is a bid on the same day, they will

         22  go to look for the work for State DOT and for the

         23  Port Authority.

         24                 Do they price their work to the City

         25  higher? It is hard to say that. The arguments on
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          2  money are very difficult because of the fact that

          3  each job is different, there is very little work

          4  that is exactly the same. But they will tell you

          5  that they have to price higher because the City is a

          6  much tougher owner to work for. Not tougher good,

          7  tougher unfair, not timely, not responsive, doesn't

          8  make decisions.

          9                 MR. CRUZ: I think one of the things

         10  that can be said, Frank is right as far as trying to

         11  ascertain the cost, additional cost, but one thing

         12  that can be shown is that at the same time that the

         13  State DOT is putting out jobs for bid, and the City

         14  is putting out jobs for bid, if they are relatively

         15  the same complexity, you are going to get more

         16  bidders on the State contracts.

         17                 The City on the tougher jobs and the

         18  bigger jobs have had a problem getting more than

         19  three or four bidders in some cases. The State does

         20  not have that problem.

         21                 MR. McARDLE: The state has a job out

         22  now, will have three of them at $150 million or plus

         23  on major arterial work. On those jobs they will have

         24  at least five bidders. The City on a job of that

         25  magnitude would probably only have two or three.
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          2  There really is a quantitative difference reflected

          3  in the desire to work for State DOT.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. I am

          5  wondering what your comment would be about the

          6  possibility of false claims by contractors if this

          7  bill were passed, and would you have any problem

          8  with putting in fairly severe penalties against

          9  false claims or frivolous claims?

         10                 MR. McARDLE: Absolutely not. In fact,

         11  the legislation as drafted did provide for that

         12  relief. It is modeled after the federal false claims

         13  act which the federal government uses very

         14  aggressively to deter contractors from filing false

         15  claims, contractors who file false claims or the

         16  attorneys who file them on behalf of the contractor

         17  should all be disciplined, and disciplined very

         18  severely. If you don't get the message out, then in

         19  fact you are simply inviting bad behavior.

         20                 MR. CRUZ: The other thing is, just

         21  filing a false claim doesn't mean that the

         22  contractor gets paid, you go through a whole series

         23  of steps, the City has their consulting engineers,

         24  they have their own staff engineers, we have the

         25  Comptroller's Office. A delay claim goes through all
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          2  of these processes. At any point it can be rejected.

          3  If the avenue for the contractor if he wants to

          4  pursue it is to go to court, now on a frivolous

          5  claim I would think that would be a little bit

          6  unrealistic to expect a contractor to go to court,

          7  and like I said before spend years in court pursuing

          8  a frivolous claim.

          9                 The checks and balances leading up to

         10  that step are numerous and all for the benefit of

         11  the City. The City has the money, the City can say

         12  no at any step of the process.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right, thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 MR. McARDLE: Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. CRUZ: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, I have the

         18  next panel who is the New York Building Congress,

         19  Janine Kourakos, Mary Libassi, Elizabeth Velez, and

         20  Kirti Gandhi.

         21                 Okay, if you would raise your right

         22  hands, please.

         23                 Do you all swear to tell the truth,

         24  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         25                 MS. LIBASSI: I do.
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          2                 MS. KOURAKOS: I do.

          3                 MS. VELEZ: I do.

          4                 MR. GANDHI: Yes, I do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, and then if

          6  you would identify yourselves for the record.

          7                 MS. KOURAKOS: Janine Kourakos, Vice

          8  President, New York Building Congress.

          9                 MS. VELEZ: Elizabeth Velez, Executive

         10  Vice President, Velez Organization.

         11                 MR. GANDHI: Kirti Gandhi, from Gandhi

         12  Engineering, consulting engineers and architects.

         13                 MS. LIBASSI: Mary Libassi, Board of

         14  Directors, New York Building Congress, and General

         15  Counsel, Shivone Construction Company.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, thank you.

         17                 MS. KOURAKOS: Good afternoon, Council

         18  Member Freed and members of the Committee. I would

         19  like to thank you on behalf of the New York Building

         20  Congress Board of Directors and our 300 constituent

         21  organizations, from the design, construction and

         22  real estate communities for holding this hearing on

         23  this issue, which is a critical issue to the

         24  industry and also to the City of New York.

         25                 I think in the interest of time I
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          2  will not read my prepared testimony because I think

          3  it is important for you to hear from business people

          4  who are directly affected and impacted by this

          5  clause.

          6                 The one point that I do want to make

          7  is that it is the public who suffers the most from

          8  this clause. When a project is delayed, it is the

          9  public that is denied the use of highways, bridges,

         10  hospitals, community centers, swimming pools and

         11  libraries, just to name a few.

         12                 I think by removing this clause it

         13  will increase public sector accountability and

         14  encourage timely construction-related decisions and

         15  thereby speeding up the construction process.

         16                 The Building Congress has been

         17  working on this issue for several years, and we look

         18  forward to working with the Council on any

         19  appropriate legislative remedy.

         20                 The only thing I would like to add to

         21  the record, which I will hand in, is a letter from

         22  Edward Malloy, President of the Building and

         23  Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and

         24  the letter supports the elimination of the no

         25  damages for delay clause, as well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

          3                 MS. VELEZ: Good afternoon.

          4                 It is my distinct pleasure and

          5  certainly I feel my obligation to demonstrate to you

          6  today the absolute unreasonable and unconscionable

          7  impact the no damages for delay clause has on

          8  businesses doing business with New York City, but

          9  perhaps more directly on organizations like

         10  ourselves which can be devastated by its results.

         11                 The Velez Organization was founded by

         12  my father, Andrew Velez, 27 years ago. We provide a

         13  wide range of construction services, including the

         14  construction management and general construction for

         15  a long list of public and private sector clients.

         16                 And while we have come a long way

         17  from our start in the apartment office of my

         18  parents, we are still very much affected by the

         19  cyclical nature and inherent risk of the

         20  construction industry.

         21                 Furthermore, being a minority

         22  business enterprise, and certainly disadvantaged

         23  business enterprise in this tough New York City

         24  marketplace has been an additional challenge.

         25                 In 1993, the Velez Organization
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          2  competitively bid and was awarded two projects from

          3  the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation

          4  out at Queens Hospital Center. This is but one

          5  example but I think a very salient one.

          6                 These projects totalled some $550,000

          7  and were scheduled to be completed in one year or

          8  less. To be honest, we were hesitant to bid as

          9  general contractors on City work for a number of

         10  years previous, as the City had traditionally a poor

         11  reputation for payment.

         12                 However, we were encouraged to accept

         13  this project under various affirmative action

         14  initiatives that were in place at the time, and

         15  through representations of project management staff,

         16  that the Queens Hospital projects were ready to go,

         17  our work would be unincumbered.

         18                 We were not strangers to hospital

         19  work, completing over 40 major federal hospital

         20  projects in the five boroughs preceding this period

         21  of time in 1993, nevertheless, soon after the

         22  contract was signed and our construction work

         23  commenced, progress ground to a halt.

         24                 As we turned over completed floors to

         25  move other wards out of the area slated for
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          2  construction, we found the hospital just could not

          3  or would not initiate the required move as required.

          4                 When we went on the record to project

          5  management stating the mounting delays, they simply

          6  pointed to the no damages for delay clause and told

          7  us that we would be able to get extensions of time

          8  only.

          9                 Things only got worse when we

         10  commenced the second hospital project. Wards that

         11  had been previously empty when we bid the project

         12  were now being utilized by local community groups,

         13  obliterating any hope of completing the project work

         14  in these areas as well.

         15                 And to make matters all the worse,

         16  the City terminated its agreement with the project

         17  management team that they had hired as their own

         18  owners representative, as well as terminated the

         19  agreement with the project architect, and took over

         20  controlling and managing this construction project,

         21  again, causing immeasurable delays.

         22                 Weeks stretched into months and

         23  months into years. These projects which were to be

         24  completed in one year's time approached the

         25  five-year mark. We submitted requests to the owner
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          2  for reasonable adjustments for damages, given the

          3  fact that we faced over four years of labor and

          4  material and subcontractor increases. These requests

          5  were summarily denied.

          6                 The slim profit margin that we

          7  estimated on this project during the bid process

          8  instead resulted in devastating losses. This

          9  profoundly impacted our ability to keep our heads

         10  above water, for the four years of the project, then

         11  for several years thereafter. I have no doubt that a

         12  smaller company would not have been able to weather

         13  such a storm faced with the same impact.

         14                 The no damage for delay clause has

         15  absolutely no place in the contract for a

         16  responsible and fair government entity, especially

         17  when the City can recoup delay losses from the

         18  contractor through its liquidated damages clauses. I

         19  believe this to be a two-way street.

         20                 When a contractor, through no fault

         21  of their own, is prevented from executing the work

         22  that they have been hired to perform, they must be

         23  able to recoup the verifiable cost increases that

         24  are inherent in time delays.

         25                 I can tell you that the Velez
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          2  Organization, like so many other firms in this City

          3  will think twice about working for the City as a

          4  general contractor.

          5                 Due to the unreasonable and most

          6  often unforeseen damage, it can incur as a result of

          7  this clause, the impact of which would surely result

          8  in decreased competition and bidding and ultimately

          9  a higher cost of doing business with New York City.

         10                 I urge you all to repeal this unjust

         11  clause.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you. Next?

         14                 MR. GANDHI: My name is Kirti Gandhi

         15  and I am with Gandhi Engineering and also

         16  consultants, architects and engineers community in

         17  this City.

         18                 My firm has been doing business in

         19  the City for the last 23 years, and we are working

         20  in all five boroughs on very challenging and

         21  complicated projects.

         22                 I have no problem with engineering

         23  opportunities, however the problems stem from the

         24  delays after we have been selected, and once we are

         25  selected, to the date that we are being asked to
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          2  start the project.

          3                 In the handout that I have provided,

          4  I have listed some of the contracts that the date

          5  from when we have been selected to the date that we

          6  have been asked to start the work, ranges somewhere

          7  between eight months to 23 months. And this is not a

          8  case for damage for delay clauses, however we are

          9  being affected due to this delay, in terms of our

         10  ability to estimate the staffing needs, because we

         11  assume that once you are selected you should be

         12  starting with work within a six month period and

         13  when this project does not start, for the

         14  unforeseeable future, it does affect our ability to

         15  do staffing, it also affects our budgeting and cash

         16  flow.

         17                 Also, sometimes what happens is the

         18  City does not adjust the cost prices or the salaries

         19  that we have proposed in the contract. They do not

         20  adjust the salaries proposed in the contract because

         21  of the delays, and in some cases we end up starting

         22  work even before we have the notice to proceed, just

         23  to meet the deadline.

         24                 I heard from both Commissioner

         25  Tormenta about the design projects and the delays in
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          2  the design, but what I could mention to you is, that

          3  we wanted the contract to last for 18 months, and we

          4  are not being asked to start for nine or ten months

          5  and then we are being put in a position to complete

          6  the job within the remaining nine months so the City

          7  can bid the project, send it out and use the

          8  available funding.

          9                 I think we should then get the equal

         10  amount of time or 18 months, but we are pressed

         11  between a rock and a hard place. The construction

         12  community is being selected based on the low prices

         13  of the bid, of a responsive bid. We are being

         14  selected based on our performance and our reputation

         15  and how cooperative you are with the City of New

         16  York or City agencies. We are not in the position to

         17  eliminate the City agencies because that is how we

         18  earn our bread and butter, and I think there should

         19  be some way to adjust the prices in the proposal

         20  that we submit to the City agencies if there are

         21  delays beyond the control of the consulting

         22  community or the agencies themselves. Because

         23  sometimes the agencies don't have control when the

         24  process goes in the pipeline, so there should be a

         25  mechanism established so we have an equitable price

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  for the work that we are supposed to do and the time

          3  allotment for us, which was originally stipulated in

          4  the contract proposal.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

          7                 Next.

          8                 MS. LIBASSI: Good afternoon. My name

          9  is Mary Libassi, and I am on the Board of Directors

         10  of Building Congress.

         11                 A lot was said by the City of New

         12  York, the representatives of the City of New York,

         13  with respect to the exceptions that are out there

         14  and available to the contractors, and they can

         15  collect their delay damages for those. So, if they

         16  can meet those exceptions, the fact is that very

         17  few, if any, acts or omissions by the City rise to

         18  the level of avoiding the no damage for delay

         19  clause, and the City personnel know it, and I guess

         20  the experience of Miss Velez is commonplace where

         21  the people in the field point to the no damage for

         22  delay clause and just say, sorry, but we will give

         23  you an extension of time. Sometimes you don't even

         24  get an extension of time and you are subjected to

         25  liquidated damages, for delaying, not meeting the
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          2  contract price. But the fact of the matter is that

          3  without accountability, the contractor is forced to

          4  absorb the increase in cost and overhead by reason

          5  of the deferral of the completion of the date of the

          6  contract and the communities are forced to endure a

          7  greater inconvenience and delay in receiving the

          8  necessary services.

          9                 One of the exceptions is, it just

         10  seems that if a contractor has to prove that the

         11  owner acted in bad faith or willfully, maliciously

         12  or grossly negligently caused the delay, it is

         13  pretty much of an impossible burden for the

         14  contractor to meet.

         15                 The contemplation of whether the

         16  delay was contemplated seems to be a reasonable

         17  standard, but how the courts have interpreted that

         18  standard, as you alluded to, Councilwoman Freed, the

         19  Courts look to the contract and if there is any

         20  mention of something in the contract, the courts

         21  have held that the contractor assumed the

         22  responsibility for the delay or contemplated the

         23  delay.

         24                 There is a change order provision in

         25  the contract, it sets forth the mechanism whereby
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          2  the City can add work to the contract because of

          3  design omissions or design defects or any reason,

          4  almost any reason at all, and the City has seized

          5  upon those clauses and says change orders mentioned

          6  in the contract, therefore, any delay arising out of

          7  change orders, whether it be that the City couldn't

          8  make up their mind what to do, whether the City had

          9  some problem with the bureaucracy, whether the City

         10  just took their time, that is a delay that is

         11  contemplated by the contract, it is not a delay that

         12  is contemplated by the party.

         13                 The fact of the matter is that in the

         14  Kalisch-Jarcho Decision, which was the first

         15  decision which enforced the no damage for delay

         16  clause, the court said without a clear pronouncement

         17  of public policy by the legislature, the exculpatory

         18  clause is enforceable.

         19                 It is clear that the judiciary can

         20  provide no clear protection to the contracting

         21  community or the community at large where the

         22  contractor has to demonstrate that the public agency

         23  is culpable of bad faith or willful maliciously

         24  gross conduct.

         25                 We call upon you as the legislators
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          2  here in the City of New York to set forth that

          3  public policy and relieve the problems that the

          4  communities and the contractors are having here and

          5  to hold the City accountable for the damages that

          6  they cause.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

          9                 I am just curious to know if you

         10  know, for the other areas like the other agencies,

         11  like the State Office of Administrative Services,

         12  the State DOT, what the experience is with that, if

         13  there is additional litigation or if there are

         14  delays, you know, if you have done work with those

         15  agencies what your experience has been?

         16                 MR. GANDHI: Gandhi Engineering has

         17  been, the State of New York for delays caused by the

         18  State of New York, we have been reimbursed for all

         19  of the costs, you know, due to the delays by the

         20  State of New York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: But do you find

         22  that they keep more to the contracts, or is there

         23  really no difference between them and agencies that

         24  have the no damages for delay?

         25                 MR. GANDHI: Well, they just try to be
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          2  reasonable. I think what they are trying to be, if

          3  they see that the delay was caused by inaction of

          4  the State, they would like to reimburse the

          5  consultants for the delay.

          6                 MS. KOURAKOS: Can I also add that if

          7  you speak with Ray O'Connor from the State Office of

          8  General Services, he will tell you that before he

          9  started a few years ago they couldn't get people to

         10  bid on a lot of the state work. I mean, the reason

         11  that they started paying delay damages was because

         12  they wanted to be viewed as an agency that was good

         13  to work for, that was equitable and that would treat

         14  a contractor fairly.

         15                 The last set of bids, they were for a

         16  number of jail construction projects, got so many

         17  bids and at good prices and contractors like Morris

         18  Diesel (phonetic) that ten years ago wouldn't take

         19  an out of State OGS job, they wouldn't dream of back

         20  bidding, and I think that is indicative of what it

         21  means.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: It might be

         23  interesting to check that out because you already

         24  heard before about the question of how many real,

         25  how many bids do we really get on some of these
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          2  contracts and to a certain extent it is almost

          3  intuitive that if you are not going to be

          4  compensated for delays or if you can get the

          5  compensation at the end of the contract, where the

          6  contractor is nevertheless paying to go through to

          7  complete the job, how many real bids do you get?

          8  What are the relative sizes of the companies? I am

          9  curious to know how many of the companies are

         10  smaller, how many of them are women or minorities

         11  companies? Because, again, at least on a gut level,

         12  sense level, you would think that you would actually

         13  discourage a lot of people and then you would end up

         14  getting contracts that were more expensive.

         15                 MS. LIBASSI: If I may, the fact of

         16  the matter is that the City has the ability to

         17  gather all of this information and provide this

         18  information and they choose not to. It is not

         19  something that we have control over, information of

         20  that sort.

         21                 MS. VELEZ:  And I can state that

         22  similar to what Frank McArdle and Mr. Cruz was

         23  saying earlier, that I know for the Velez

         24  Organization we would prefer to bid on state work

         25  rather than City work.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you do bids on

          3  statewide? I mean, for instance, how much of your

          4  business is statewide, or for the state agencies

          5  that don't have damages for delay?

          6                 MS. VELEZ: I would say we do a

          7  majority of our business with state agencies. I

          8  would say probably more along 75 percent state.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Council

         10  Member Lopez.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Gandhi, you

         12  said something that I am unfamiliarized with it and

         13  I want to clarify.

         14                 You said that if you get a contract

         15  and you sign and you are supposed to be getting that

         16  contract and the duration of that contract is going

         17  to be 18 months --

         18                 MR. GANDHI: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Suddenly the

         20  City tells you, no, we can't begin and then finally

         21  they, because they decide that, not because you,

         22  finally they come back to you nine months before the

         23  18-month period is over, they said okay you go

         24  ahead. You are expected to provide the job done in

         25  nine months (sic), that's what you said?
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          2                 MR. GANDHI: That's correct, Ma'am.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the period

          4  of time in which you were not able to perform the

          5  work, not due to your fault, is not giving to you an

          6  opportunity to be able to do this job in the 18

          7  months that it was projected for?

          8                 MR. GANDHI: Well, I think they expect

          9  that the funding is allocated for the certain

         10  project, and if the contract documents are not

         11  prepared and sent out, they will probably lose that

         12  funding. I mean, the fiscal year is the limit that

         13  they would like to go after, so they would ask us

         14  and we would comply and we would cooperate in

         15  getting the job out in a nine months period.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What you are

         17  saying then is you don't have a way of remediating

         18  this situation when originally the project is

         19  projected to be done in 18 months, is a reason for

         20  that I assume, right?

         21                 MS. GANDHI: That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Because I

         23  imagine that that is taken in consideration, a

         24  certain amount of time, like a cushion amount of

         25  time, and also the amount of time that is
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          2  realistically expected for this to be done, right?

          3                 MR. GANDHI: That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: When they come

          5  back to you and it is nine months left, there is no

          6  remedy provided to you in any way, shape or form?

          7                 MR. GANDHI: So far we have not been

          8  able to recall of the cost of the delays, because,

          9  you know, the City has come and awarded the contract

         10  up to 18 months since we submitted our fee proposal.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And that kind

         12  of rule will apply also in a situation, let's say

         13  there is six months left, for example, the same

         14  situation?

         15                 MR. GANDHI: Well, I think what they

         16  are asking is, in some cases they would request us

         17  whether we would start at risk work, you know, on

         18  our own without -- at risk work basically that would

         19  be started at our own risk. They cannot ask us to

         20  start the work because there is no funding forwarded

         21  for the project, it is some place in the process, in

         22  the pipeline, and it is up to us whether we agree to

         23  do at risk work or not.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And that is to

         25  a situation in which, let's say there is six months
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          2  left for the period of time that this was allocated,

          3  the incentive for you to get engaged in spending the

          4  money before is for the fear of losing the total

          5  amount and then you said okay I take the risk, it

          6  would be like that?

          7                 MR. GANDHI: Also to stay on the good

          8  side of the books with the Department. I mean,

          9  consultants are being selected on the basis of their

         10  merit and performance and cooperation and other

         11  factors. It is not a construction community where

         12  you submit the bids and then the lowest responsible

         13  bidder gets the job. There is a subjective judgment

         14  in selection of consultants.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me ask you

         16  another question.

         17                 The panel, you are the only one who

         18  has a company, or everybody belongs to different

         19  companies, in the panel?

         20                 MS. KOURAKOS: I represent a trade

         21  association that represents 300 companies.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. Then I am

         23  asking the question to all of you.

         24                 When a company engages itself in a

         25  situation of bidding and getting these jobs, in your
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          2  opinion, a big company or a small company, which one

          3  of the two gets more hurt by this kind of practices?

          4                 MS. KOURAKOS: No question a smaller

          5  company.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Because?

          7                 MS. VELEZ: Because on a smaller

          8  company you have less working capital, so if your

          9  working capital, or you are damaged by delays to a

         10  project, you can't take that money that delay, those

         11  resources, those people and start your next job. It

         12  is tied up. So, I would say no question a smaller

         13  company would be hurt.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then the

         15  smaller the company is, the more affected they will

         16  be by this kind of policy? That is an accurate

         17  statement to make, according to what you are saying?

         18                 MS. VELEZ: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And that is the

         20  opinion of everybody else?

         21                 MS. LIBASSI: I would say that smaller

         22  companies are hurt more because they are unable to

         23  absorb the costs that are incurred, but large

         24  companies are hurt as well. They also are incurring

         25  fixed costs over the period of delay. They can't use
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          2  their resources elsewhere. They may be able to

          3  sustain the risk and the burden for a longer period

          4  of time, but a small company may not be able to,

          5  would not be able to. But a large company is hurt

          6  also.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, that I am

          8  clear. I just want to know, which one would be more

          9  destructive to which one of the two, and to which

         10  one of the two would be less destructive? Of do I

         11  understand that the loss of capital is the loss of

         12  capital, period, that's it.

         13                 MS. LIBASSI: Well, I would say that a

         14  large company might be able to sustain the losses

         15  for longer periods of time, but eventually, you

         16  know, they may be able to, you know, make profit on

         17  other jobs which would put them in a position where

         18  they could sustain this for a longer period of time,

         19  but it is a very destructive policy for a small or

         20  large company.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The other

         22  question I want to address in the same line of

         23  questioning, then when I look at minority-owned

         24  companies, companies that are owned by women, by

         25  people of color, who by the fact that they have come
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          2  into this business late, they are getting in there,

          3  and they were not being necessarily as big as other

          4  companies who have been here for many, many years

          5  are, then can we say that then the minority

          6  contractor can get hit harder on this process?

          7                 MS. VELEZ: Speaking on behalf of a

          8  minority contractor, I would say yes again, being in

          9  business for 27 years. So, the longevity issue isn't

         10  as salient as to your point, to the Velez

         11  Organization.

         12                 But as it relates to the access to

         13  working capital, to funds perhaps delays, you are

         14  right, I think a minority or woman-owned business

         15  doesn't have the same access to working capital to

         16  keep their funds going as a larger company or a

         17  non-minority firm would.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then this is

         19  like, would you say like domino effect kind of law,

         20  that the smaller you are, the latest you came into

         21  the business, the harder it will hit you.

         22                 MS. VELEZ: I agree.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The last

         24  question I have is, Mr. Gandhi, I guess that is a

         25  big responsibility to carry that name, I have great
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          2  admiration for the teacher that he was.

          3                 MR. GANDHI: There is no relation

          4  though.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It doesn't

          6  matter, but the name invokes a lot of images in my

          7  mind.

          8                 MR. GANDHI: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You said

         10  something that I would like you to explain slowly

         11  for me because I don't have experience in the

         12  construction industry.

         13                 MR. GANDHI: Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You said that

         15  the resources that had to be allocated for your

         16  company to be able to survive during the whole

         17  process would create for you to lose incredible

         18  capital until you get to the point of being able to

         19  build.

         20                 Can you explain what you mean by

         21  that? You were talking about hiring people, or not

         22  hiring people, lay off people, or not lay off

         23  people, can you be specific according to your

         24  experience?

         25                 MR. GANDHI: Yes, I can be very
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          2  specific.

          3                 We are working on one of the projects

          4  right now which is on a tight schedule and they

          5  asked me if I would be willing to start at risk and

          6  we said yes, and we spent over $150,000 before we

          7  got the official letter notice to proceed.

          8                 It's true, I decided on my own, that

          9  business decision, to get started and do the work.

         10  But you do lay out the capital, which you have to

         11  borrow from the bank, the interest is not counted

         12  toward the overhead, and maybe I am going on a

         13  totally different subject, but there is a difference

         14  between consulting community and the construction

         15  community. We are being reimbursed based on what it

         16  costs, based on our salaries that we pay. Every

         17  invoice that we submit to any City agency, we do

         18  have to submit the name of the individual, the

         19  number of hours that the individual works for the

         20  pay period, whether it is every month or 15 days or

         21  whatever the duration, the number of hours that are

         22  worked on specific projects, we have to attach the

         23  time sheets, we have to attach the back-up material,

         24  such as payments of toll mileage, so we are subject

         25  to audit by the Comptroller's Office and by an
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          2  individual department who has their own internal

          3  engineering audit office in each department.

          4                 So, the interest that we pay is not

          5  computed towards our overhead, which is the cost of

          6  doing business, which we are not being reimbursed by

          7  the City or State or federal agency.

          8                 So, it is a burden that we have to

          9  absorb out of the profit, if there is any profit

         10  left.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In other words,

         12  if you made the decision to proceed without the

         13  order to go ahead, and you make that decision based

         14  on thinking, okay, I have two choices, or I lose my

         15  company or I begin constructing and trying to gain

         16  something to sustain the company but at the end the

         17  profit that you are supposed to make over this

         18  project never will materialize and left you in the

         19  same place that you were before you begin the

         20  project?

         21                 MR. GANDHI: You do bill for the hours

         22  that you put in. I mean, you cover your cost.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, I

         24  understand that part but I am looking at the profit

         25  that you have to make in order to get ahead.
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          2                 MR. GANDHI: Right.

          3                 Also, it upsets your schedule. You

          4  know, now you have to start people on an overtime

          5  schedule instead of, you have to start working on

          6  weekends and evenings.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Which will cost

          8  you more and that reduces the gain that you

          9  projected?

         10                 MR. GANDHI: No. The contract allows

         11  us to recover the cost of overtime that we paid to

         12  our employees. As I say, it still disrupts the whole

         13  schedule because we are not only working for one

         14  client, we do not have people sitting on the shelf

         15  ready to be picked up for service, as the Department

         16  calls us. We are working for multiple clients and

         17  then we have to borrow from Peter to pay Paul, as

         18  the way it goes. I mean, somewhere along the line

         19  you have to make adjustments in staffing so that we

         20  try to juggle too many balls in two hands to keep

         21  all of the clients happy basically and try to be

         22  good to all of those clients in the absence.

         23                 But one of the factors that

         24  Commissioner Tormenta, Commissioner McArdle, you

         25  know, he signed my first contract about 1978 or '79
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          2  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: He is not going

          4  to like you when you finish here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: He will because he

          6  is the former commissioner.

          7                 MR. GANDHI: I will just call him

          8  former Commissioner McArdle, but he signed my first

          9  or second contract with the City of New York.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am sorry that

         11  I created this problem for you.

         12                 MR. GANDHI: That's all right, I

         13  respect him you know.

         14                 As I said, the problem comes about

         15  the quality of drawings that they mentioned, which

         16  is a real thing, but as I said, if the City was

         17  doing its job and giving us 18 months for the 18

         18  months project, we would be in a better position to

         19  do a good job and checking drawings, make sure that

         20  the quality control and all of these checks and

         21  balances have been made and then there would be less

         22  problems for the City of New York, for the

         23  contracting community and also for us because our

         24  reputation is run from the line.

         25                 I think one of the references that
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          2  Commissioner Tormenta mentioned was VENDEX, and we

          3  certainly don't want to be on the bad side of the

          4  VENDEX. So, I think what I would request the Council

          5  members would be to streamline the procedure and

          6  that would allow the City to award the contract

          7  within the reasonable period of time once the

          8  selection is made, and I would say any reasonable

          9  period, somewhere between three and six months I

         10  would think in my judgment would be a reasonable

         11  period, but not waiting like 20 months and 22

         12  months, I mean as we are experiencing on some of our

         13  projects.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: That was our last

         15  hearing.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you, sir.

         17                 And thank you to the three of you

         18  also.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Let me ask a quick

         20  question.

         21                 Do any of you deal with Wicks? Do you

         22  do construction under the Wicks Law?

         23                 MS. VELEZ: Yes, we do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Do you find there

         25  is more litigation or there is more contention
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          2  between the various bidders?

          3                 MS. VELEZ: Are you saying outside the

          4  Wicks, each individual trade? Is there contention

          5  between those bidders?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, on the same

          7  contract.

          8                 MS. VELEZ: You know, what we found on

          9  a lot of Wicks projects is there generally is an

         10  owner's representative, A construction manager, who

         11  is supposed to manage the work of the different

         12  trades.

         13                 There are issues that do come up. I

         14  mean, if we had a choice of doing Wicks work and

         15  non-Wicks work, we would go non-Wicks, only because

         16  as a general contractor, when we operate with that

         17  hat, we have control over the whole project.

         18                 There are issues that come up between

         19  the trades. I don't think that they, at least in my

         20  experience, really contribute to delaying the

         21  project. And I certainly wouldn't hold the City

         22  necessarily responsible. The delays that I was

         23  referring to were totally outside of the Wicks

         24  realm. You know, it was working in a hospital, not

         25  turning over wards, firing the owner's
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          2  representative, in that case the construction

          3  manager who was hired to monitor the trades, and

          4  then assuming the position of monitoring the work

          5  way into the project, learning everything anew.

          6                 So, I would say at least in my

          7  experience the delays aren't really as a result of

          8  the fact that you have different primes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, that gets

         10  into some of the questioning about, you heard that

         11  the Governor in his veto message did say that some

         12  of the terminology was vague, but would you have any

         13  feelings about the terminology, like they talk about

         14  changed conditions, differing sites, subsurface

         15  conditions, would there be suggestions that you

         16  would make on that?

         17                 MS. LIBASSI: Those phrases are

         18  phrases that are well defined in the contracting

         19  community and they are defined by the contract. In

         20  fact, when the City's contract contains a changed

         21  conditions clause or a differing site conditions

         22  clause, most public contracts contain such clauses

         23  and they provide that if you run into a subsurface

         24  condition that is different from that shown on the

         25  plans or which is not contemplated by the parties at
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          2  the time of bid, the costs incurred for those

          3  changed conditions are paid.

          4                 So, those phrases are not really

          5  vague or ill-defined in the contracting community.

          6                 The strange thing about putting a

          7  clause like that in a City contract with the no

          8  damage for delay clause, the courts have come up

          9  with a very strange interpretation of that. The

         10  courts say if you can prove a subsurface condition

         11  that was unanticipated at the time you bid, the one

         12  clause says you get paid, but it is a contemplated

         13  delay under the no damage for delay clause, despite

         14  the fact that it is an unanticipated subsurface

         15  condition.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Of course, I am

         17  also tempted to ask, didn't anybody think to check

         18  out the subsurface conditions before you started,

         19  before they started the job?

         20                 MS. LIBASSI: Actually, the City of

         21  New York, who puts out the borings and has the

         22  opportunity to do an extensive investigation, it is

         23  not the contractor who picks up the plans and bids

         24  on the job one month later who has the opportunity

         25  or the access to this kind of information. Once
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          2  again, if the City were responsible for cost and

          3  accountable for the delay that was occurred because

          4  of these things, maybe they would be a little bit

          5  more careful about what they put out to bid.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. I guess I

          7  should have asked Mr. McArdle this as well, but

          8  since it sounds like the state is working into still

          9  doing some kind of legislation on this, would you

         10  recommend that we go forward or that we wait and see

         11  what they do?

         12                 MS. LIBASSI: We certainly recommend

         13  that you go forward.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And we have a yes

         15  from the back of the room.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have a

         17  question. If we move forward here, how will this

         18  impact?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, because the

         20  way they wrote the bill, they talked about

         21  municipalities, and the abilities of municipalities,

         22  our belief is that we would not be preempted because

         23  it would break down with municipalities anyway.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right. Thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 MS. VELEZ: Thank you very much.

          4                 MS. LIBASSI: Thank you.

          5                 MR. GANDHI: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And we have one

          7  last speaker, or one last witness.  Jack Kannry,

          8  Esquire, from Berman, Palry, Goldstein and Kannry.

          9                 MR. KANNRY: Thank you very much,

         10  Madame Chair, and the few that are remaining here. I

         11  didn't prepare any written testimony, I didn't have

         12  enough time, I just learned of this a few days ago.

         13  But if after I speak you would like something in

         14  writing I can probably get it in a matter of a few

         15  days.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

         17                 MR. KANNRY: Just by way of who I am,

         18  I bring more than 30 years of experience in the

         19  construction industry to the table, initially as a

         20  young civil engineer, a licensed professional

         21  engineer, and then subsequently in the legal phase

         22  of my career I began in the predecessor to Marilyn

         23  Schechter's office, I was an Assistant Corp Counsel

         24  with the City of New York Law Department defending

         25  construction claims, and then into private practice,
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          2  initially with former Governor Cuomo's law firm,

          3  before he went into politics, and then in my current

          4  firm, representing contractors, engineers and others

          5  in construction industry matters.

          6                 Beyond my personal experience, I have

          7  also had extensive dialogue with several clients who

          8  could not be here today, who perform construction

          9  contracts for New York City and so my thoughts

         10  represent their views as well.

         11                 Before I get into the specifics of

         12  what I did want to say, just a couple of brief

         13  responses to some of the things I have heard, if I

         14  may.

         15                 First of all, Commissioner Tormenta

         16  mentioned that the no damages for delay clause has

         17  been around with City contracts for more than 40

         18  years. While that is true, it is only until probably

         19  the Kalisch-Jarcho generation, which was about 15

         20  years ago or so, that the City began to treat it as

         21  a very distinct offensive weapon.

         22                 When I was with the Corp Counsel's

         23  Office, and in the period prior to about '83, the

         24  provision was certainly recognized but there was a

         25  sense of fairness in the way it was treated as to
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          2  what is the reasonable thing to do on a cooperative

          3  basis.

          4                 I also wanted to mention briefly, I

          5  am sorry she is not here, but Councilwoman Lopez,

          6  concerning her shoe story, when she mentioned what

          7  Commissioner Tormenta had said about the contractors

          8  bidding low and you can't catch them and it didn't

          9  make sense to her, one of the points that I wanted

         10  to make is, many, if not most City agency contracts

         11  are unit price contracts, meaning there are several,

         12  maybe hundreds of items, that the contractor bids so

         13  many dollars per yard of concrete or earth or

         14  whatever it might be, and those are evaluated

         15  against the City engineers' estimate before they

         16  think of award, and if there is an unbalancing, or

         17  if the prices are unrealistically low, the City has

         18  the ability to throw that bid out for being

         19  unbalanced and being unreasonable. So there are

         20  options, it is not a one-way street and she was

         21  certainly on the right track.

         22                 Additionally, the concept that was

         23  raised by the City people of bidding low in the

         24  hopes of a claim is pure shear nonsense.

         25                 First of all, contractors, be they
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          2  small or large contractors, they make their living

          3  by getting in on a job and getting out, and they

          4  don't want to drag their feet at all because they

          5  never make money that way and they never hope to

          6  want a delay claim.

          7                 Indeed, if a contractor does drag his

          8  feet, the City has very dramatic and significant

          9  remedies at its disposal. One of them I think you

         10  alluded to, Madame Chair, at the very beginning of

         11  the commentary today.

         12                 To terminate a contractor they can

         13  call in the bonding company to finish up, if he is

         14  not doing his work properly, and they have

         15  liquidated damages, as well as other remedies.

         16                 Additionally, the comment was made,

         17  and I was quite surprised from the source it came,

         18  from an attorney from Corp Counsel, that the

         19  legislation being sought, or the existing no damage

         20  for delay clause I should say, prevents contractors

         21  from holding the project hostage. That is shear

         22  fantasy.

         23                 If a contractor is wanting to delay

         24  the job which is contrary to his interest, again,

         25  the remedies the City has are very severe and ample
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          2  in that situation.

          3                 She also made the point, and I think

          4  you took it up, maybe this has to be looked into,

          5  that change orders delay the jobs. The suggestion

          6  was how dare the contractor not want to go ahead

          7  with a change order that the process takes so long.

          8  The fact of the matter is, the City contracts

          9  provide that until there is a fully signed, sealed

         10  change order, the contractor is, to use one of the

         11  other panelist's expressions, "at risk" if he goes

         12  ahead and does it until it is issued. So, any delay

         13  there is the City's delay.

         14                 Now, if I might just say, and I will

         15  try to be brief, I know it has been a long day,

         16  certainly on reading the Council's commentary,

         17  obviously you are well aware and you have gone well

         18  into the state legislative efforts which I was

         19  certainly involved with all through this thing. And

         20  I would submit to you from a little different

         21  perspective, that based on the history of this

         22  legislative effort, I would submit it is not

         23  unreasonable to conclude that the Governor's

         24  decision, beyond what he actually said, was perhaps

         25  more politically motivated than evaluated on the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  merits.

          3                 The strongest opponent to this

          4  legislative effort, and the one to whom I think most

          5  people, if you will ask them, would candidly say the

          6  Governor pays close attention to, was the New York

          7  City Administration. And the opposition ostensibly

          8  on the merits was set forth in the Mayor's July 2,

          9  1998 letter, which I think you have to the Governor,

         10  but when it was scrutinized within contractual and

         11  legal framework by others, but by me as well, in my

         12  July 21, '98 letter, which I think you also have, it

         13  doesn't pass muster, on the contract, on the facts,

         14  on the law.

         15                 This I would suggest leads to the

         16  conclusion, that the Mayor's, and this is a matter

         17  of record, his outspoken hostility to the

         18  construction industry, is the underlying motivation

         19  for the opposition he has put up, since surely he

         20  cannot in good conscience be opposed to a business

         21  like accountability for delays to construction

         22  projects caused by errors or inefficiencies within

         23  the City agencies.

         24                 That view, it is not just mine, that

         25  view has been shared by perhaps the most prestigious
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          2  construction industry publication, engineering news

          3  record, which stated in an August 31, 1998

          4  editorial, I will just read a very brief part of it,

          5  "To make matters worse, New York City's Mayor

          6  Rudolph Giuliani seems to believe every construction

          7  company is guilty until proven innocent. Governor

          8  George Pataki has it in his power to overhaul New

          9  York City's public works bureaucracy by signing a

         10  bill that would delete the monstrously one-sided no

         11  damages for delay clause from all future City

         12  contracts. If he does, contractors may flock to City

         13  agencies to work on New York's decrepid

         14  infrastructure because there will be at least a

         15  modicum of fairness. If he doesn't, he will be

         16  giving free rein to the bureaucratic bullies for

         17  years to come. Then they can fumble their work on

         18  all the City's future public works projects because

         19  they don't have to do their jobs well." That comes

         20  right out of the Engineering News record.

         21                 Now, the available time I have today

         22  precludes any meaningful exposition of substantive

         23  reasons, but I think a lot of them were covered in

         24  that letter that you have. But I would suffice it to

         25  say for now, that this legislation, in my view and
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          2  that of many contractors, would actually reduce

          3  delays on construction projects by responsible

          4  contractors, be they large or small, since it would

          5  eliminate a principle current cause of the delays,

          6  the lack of accountability by City agencies in

          7  causing such delays and not being required to accept

          8  fiscal responsibility for such causes.

          9                 Just before I came here today I had a

         10  phone call from an attorney that has since relocated

         11  to Florida, but he and I served on the Bar

         12  Association Law Committee for a number of years, and

         13  he said to me, he said, Jack, he said are you still

         14  tilting at that windmill? And I said, yes, because I

         15  think it is worthwhile to the construction industry.

         16                 He related to me, and this is so

         17  typical, a conversation that he had on a case

         18  against the City where he was waiting for the judge,

         19  and he was in the hall with the Corp Counsel, his

         20  adversary, and he was lamenting about the no damages

         21  for delay clause. And the Assistant Corp Counsel

         22  said to him, very candidly and true, we absolutely

         23  have to have that clause, it is the only way we can

         24  protect ourselves from the ineptitude of our people.

         25  That says it all.
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          2                 Now, as you know, there are several

          3  states around the country that have passed

          4  comparable legislation to what we were seeking here,

          5  including New Jersey, right across the river,

          6  likewise, you know, about the federal contracts. And

          7  as you are also aware, and this is something I have

          8  some personal knowledge of, a number of the state

          9  agencies, particularly DOT and OGS, have, through

         10  what I would call a partnering type dialogue with

         11  the construction industry, notably with the AGC and

         12  the GBC, significantly soften their exculpatory

         13  contractual delay provisions in genuine efforts to

         14  resolve such disputes in a fair and equitable

         15  manner. And I participated in a number of those

         16  efforts and so I have seen the development of their

         17  attitudinal change, but in a cooperative spirit.

         18                 The City of New York, I would submit

         19  to you, in stark contrast to those state agencies,

         20  consistently gives the back of its hand to any

         21  meaningful construction industry dialogue.

         22                 And this I can personally attest to

         23  as well. I am a member of the Procurement Policy

         24  Board Advisory Council and I participated in Task

         25  Force meetings with the City Comptroller, the
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          2  Mayor's Office, Corp Counsel was here recently, and

          3  they do -- all they do is they listen and they

          4  smirk, there is no dialogue.

          5                 Notably, I would just like to bring

          6  to your attention, because this relates to the

          7  Council, the Procurement Policy Board, under Charter

          8  Section 311, which created it, requires it to

          9  promulgate rules establishing, among other things,

         10  and I am quoting, "procedures for the fair and

         11  equitable resolution of contract disputes."

         12                 As to delay claims, no such rules

         13  were promulgated because the PPB determined that

         14  they should continue to be litigated as in the past.

         15  They didn't come within its domain, at least as they

         16  thought.

         17                 Now, more notably, I would just

         18  suggest for your thought, is the Charter requirement

         19  in Section 30, that the City Council shall

         20  periodically review all City procurement policies

         21  and procedures. Since disputes resolution in a fair

         22  and equitable manner, by statute, the Charter, is I

         23  would submit within that policy's ambit, perhaps a

         24  further basis for the propriety of this body to give

         25  serious consideration to this delay damages issue
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          2  could be found.

          3                 Lastly, I would just in summation,

          4  just say to you that clearly there is major

          5  infrastructure rehabilitation and repair, in

          6  addition to new construction, that has to be a

          7  significant agenda and budget matter for the

          8  continued vibrancy of New York City into the

          9  millennium. Balanced legislation of this type will

         10  assure that such construction is carried out by

         11  responsible contractors at reasonable costs, with

         12  minimum disruption and delay, all of which is not

         13  only fair and equitable, as the Charter says, but

         14  clearly I would submit in the absolute best

         15  interests of the City and the taxpayers.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         18                 Do you know, or can you get us

         19  information on it, if there has been any increased

         20  litigation in any other states, or how long

         21  contracts take, if there is any way to show a

         22  difference in the resolution and the timing?

         23                 MR. KANNRY: I would say this to you,

         24  because you did ask some of the other speakers

         25  about, for example, State of New York DOT --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Yes.

          3                 MR. KANNRY: And that is an agency

          4  that I do a lot of business with, and I have seen

          5  the change. That is to say there was a time, Madame

          6  Chair, that the State Court of Claims' calendar,

          7  which is where we have to go with cases against the

          8  state in litigation, was referred to sort of tongue

          9  and cheek as the Berman Pally Calendar because we

         10  had so many cases in the Court of Claims.

         11                 The fact of the matter is now, since

         12  they have moved away from the litigious approach and

         13  they have gotten administrative procedures to try to

         14  resolve claims on a fair and equitable basis, very

         15  few of them get to the Court of Claims, and that is

         16  a clear indicator of how the process works.

         17                 But the way it works was with

         18  dialogue with the construction industry.

         19                 The AGC formed what was called a Task

         20  Force Section 100, a foreboding title, Section 100

         21  is the general conditions of State DOT specs. And we

         22  met with DOT and there was dialogue. The point is,

         23  with the City of New York, given their propensity in

         24  this area, there cannot be dialogue with the

         25  construction industry that means anything, the only
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          2  way to get fairness is through legislation.

          3                 And I would just lastly say to you

          4  that this local law, if one could be developed,

          5  would not at all be at odds with what might go on in

          6  the State Legislature. That process has got to begin

          7  again, if anything I think it would reinforce the

          8  likelihood of getting it on a broader scale

          9  statewide because the principal protagonist would

         10  probably be eliminated and even though Commissioner

         11  Tormenta read a very interesting list of all of

         12  those that were opposed, if the Mayor did not take

         13  his position, we would have that legislation now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right. Thank

         15  you very much.

         16                 MR. KANNRY: Thank you for the time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right.

         18                 We actually do have one more witness.

         19  Lawrence Roman, Subcontractor Trade Association.

         20                 MR. ROMAN: Good afternoon.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         22                 MR. ROMAN: Thank you for taking me so

         23  quickly, the last hearing we had to wait about seven

         24  hours.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Oh, great.
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          2                 Before you start, if you could raise

          3  your right hand.

          4                 Do you swear to tell the truth, the

          5  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          6                 MR. ROMAN: I do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, great. And

          8  then state your name for the record and please

          9  proceed.

         10                 MR. ROMAN: My name is Lawrence Roman.

         11  I am here representing the Subcontractor's Trade

         12  Association, and I am as well a contractor that does

         13  plumbing, heating and general construction work for

         14  New York City.

         15                 I just want to begin by telling you

         16  that although the person who preceded me was a very

         17  articulate lawyer, I personally hate lawyers and I

         18  hate lawsuits.

         19                 I am not here to try to promulgate

         20  lawyers and lawsuits, okay? What I am here for is to

         21  get projects finished on time.

         22                 We have done work for the City, my

         23  grandfather did work for the City back in the 1930s,

         24  my dad has been doing it since the '50s and I

         25  started it in 1976. Virtually all of the work we do
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          2  is public works construction, and it is amazing how

          3  delayed these projects are.

          4                 I mean, I am sure you probably heard

          5  other stories but there are jobs that should have

          6  been finished in a year, year and a half that take

          7  six, seven, eight, ten years and the question is

          8  why? It is because nobody is held accountable.

          9                 This careless Jarcho suit, every time

         10  a job is delayed, the first thing the City does is

         11  wave up, careless Jarcho, can't collect. Careless

         12  Jarcho, can't collect. Careless Jarcho, you can't

         13  collect. I am on a job now with DDC, I think Lou

         14  Tormenta was up here before? A Rikers Island

         15  project. They awarded it -- it is a $500,000

         16  plumbing contract, it is three years and I may 25

         17  percent complete on the job. Careless Jarcho,

         18  careless Jarcho. I want to get these jobs finished.

         19                 Private sector people like Donald

         20  Trump or any major developers, you watch their

         21  buildings, they go up very quickly, because they

         22  have an incentive to get the jobs finished on time.

         23  The City has no incentive, they don't care. It takes

         24  two years, three years, four years, they are still

         25  getting their paychecks. Who is paying for it? You,
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          2  you, all of us here. The taxpayers are paying for

          3  that. Those delays, those road construction jobs

          4  that take five and six years, you can't move on that

          5  road because nobody cares about getting the jobs

          6  done.

          7                 Now, I have seen in the past year and

          8  a half, there was a fellow that came in for the

          9  School Construction Authority named Milo Riverso.

         10  School Construction Authority was plagued just like

         11  the City with not being able to get their jobs done

         12  on time. He came in with a private sector attitude,

         13  and although you probably read a lot of bad things

         14  about the School Construction Authority, he has made

         15  major changes.

         16                 We are on jobs now and virtually

         17  every job we are on for the School Construction

         18  Authority is being finished on time or early. Now

         19  that is great, I don't have to sue the City, I don't

         20  want to sue the City, I don't have to sue anybody. I

         21  get done with the jobs, and hopefully I get paid.

         22  One of the problems is they don't pay the

         23  contractors but that is a separate issue. But the

         24  jobs get finished on time and from the public's

         25  point of view that is what you want, and I think it
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          2  is a win/win situation, okay? You make them

          3  accountable, they will get the projects finished on

          4  time, we won't have to go to the lawyers because the

          5  job is finished on time, but in the event that they

          6  can't get the jobs finished on time, we have to have

          7  the recourse. And if we don't have the recourse,

          8  when we bid these jobs we have to put in

          9  contingencies into our prices. This is known

         10  virtually statewide, that if a contractor can't sue

         11  for damages for delays, somewhere in his price he

         12  has to put in a percentage to cover the risk. So,

         13  you are really paying for it already. It is not that

         14  it is going to cost you money by having this law in

         15  place, it is going to save you money, because as the

         16  gentleman before me said, you are going to have more

         17  competitors, better competitors and the prices are

         18  going to come down because we don't have to have

         19  that risk factor of what happens if this job takes

         20  two, three, four, five or ten years.

         21                 And that is basically my presentation

         22  and I appreciate the opportunity to speak.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 All right, and except for making part
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          2  of the record to pieces of testimony that were

          3  submitted, one that Frank McArdle brought up, but it

          4  was from George Fox, and another from the Building

          5  and Construction and Trades Union from Edward

          6  Malloy, and they will be made part of the record.

          7                 And having said that, this hearing is

          8  closed.

          9                 (The following above-mentioned

         10  testimony was read into the record.)

         11

         12  Written Testimony Of:

         13  Francis X. McArdle

         14  Managing Director

         15  The General Contractors

         16  Association of New York

         17

         18                 The General Contractors Association

         19  of New York, representing the heavy construction

         20  industry active in New York City, believes that the

         21  City's current use of broad exculpatory contract

         22  language, known colloquially as the "no damaged for

         23  delay" language in its construction contracts works

         24  against the interest of this City in completing its

         25  construction contracts on time and within budget.
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          2                 The Association believes that the

          3  City should join the ranks of hundreds of other

          4  public owners and pay for its mistakes when they

          5  occur. This would allow an effective measurement of

          6  the mistakes and provide incentives to eliminate the

          7  mistakes shortening the time for a completion of

          8  contracts.

          9                 Construction projects are often very

         10  disruptive to the economic and social life of a

         11  community. They bring noise and dust and added

         12  traffic, often forcing merchants and residents to

         13  reconfigure the ways in which they conduct their

         14  daily lives. This is particularly true for the work

         15  of the heavy construction industry, as we build or

         16  rehabilitate roads, water mains and sewers. It is in

         17  everyone's interest to expedite the construction of

         18  these projects but all too often these projects

         19  languish uncompleted as the City fails to make

         20  decisions or otherwise delays in the contractor.

         21                 It may be that the City didn't do

         22  sufficient prejob surveys of the area, or it may be

         23  that the City decides during a job that a change to

         24  the project is needed. Whatever the reason,

         25  contractors are often forced to stop their project
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          2  and wait while the City takes its time to make the

          3  decision. While the contractor waits, the community

          4  suffers and suffers and everyone in the community

          5  vows to see that it never happens again.

          6                 What is the biggest problem to

          7  overcome? The fact that the City pays nothing at the

          8  time it causes the delay. It has included in its

          9  contract a broad, exculpatory language that says no

         10  damages for delay. In short, if we, the City, delay

         11  you and force you to incur extra costs, you can't

         12  get us to pay. We want you to guess when you submit

         13  your bid about the number of times that we will

         14  delay you and the cost of those delays. This may

         15  seem good for the City in the shortrun, but in the

         16  longrun this approach has been a prescription for

         17  failure. With no requirement to pay, the City never

         18  measures the costs of its delays directly, and with

         19  no requirement to pay and no measure of the cost of

         20  delays, this City has no incentive to change its

         21  ways and reduce the burden on the ultimate victim,

         22  the community residents and community businesses.

         23                 It is very clear that when the cost

         24  of inaction and delay is measured, the City does

         25  take action to reengineer out those delays. The best
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          2  example of this is in the area of payments. When the

          3  City didn't have to pay interest on late payments,

          4  the City made little sustained effort to ensure that

          5  payments were made on time.

          6                 When the Charter changed in 1989 to

          7  require prompt payment, the City moved to change its

          8  ways. It moved because the cost of failure, the

          9  interest payment, was measured and reported heavily.

         10  The City could no longer hide its failures and its

         11  delays. So the City moved to reengineer its payment

         12  processes. Agencies worked hard to avoid the public

         13  spotlight. The Procurement Policy Board started

         14  giving awards for improvement in payment and the

         15  amount of interest paid on late payments has

         16  continued to drop steadily and contractors are

         17  happier because they now get their progress payments

         18  on a timely basis.

         19                 The Association believes that the

         20  same sort of reengineering will occur on

         21  construction project management issues when the cost

         22  of delays is clearly measured and revealed publicly.

         23  When the City can no longer hide behind its no

         24  damages language and has to pay for delays and

         25  report those payments publicly, it will work hard to
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          2  reduce the amount of delays. When it does that,

          3  delay payments will stop, and that will be good news

          4  because a drop in delay payments will mean that

          5  communities and contractors are both suffering less.

          6                 The City has turned away our

          7  arguments on this issue in the past. It says that it

          8  prefers to pay up front for all delays, that it

          9  wants a bid price that will cover both the cost of

         10  construction and the cost of delays. It thinks that

         11  such a bid price is fairer. To who? The community is

         12  never told that the bid price covers both the cost

         13  of delays and the cost of work. The community thinks

         14  that the price just covers the work. The communities

         15  are very surprised to hear that the contractor has

         16  already had to guess how long the City will delay

         17  everything.

         18                 All too often, contractors can't get

         19  the full cost of the delays and suffers financial

         20  losses. Those losses have driven small contractors

         21  out of business and reduce competition. To whom is

         22  that fair? Why should anyone suffer because they

         23  can't guess how poorly the City will manage its

         24  projects?

         25                 The City argues as well that the
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          2  elimination of the no damages language will lead to

          3  a plethora of lawsuits. Those lawsuits will occur

          4  only so long as the City fails to reengineer out the

          5  causes of the delays. As we have seen with interests

          6  on delayed payments, once the City does the

          7  reengineering the payments drop. Once the City

          8  analyzes and eliminates the cases of delays, then

          9  the lawsuits will stop.

         10                 As it is, the City does nothing to

         11  analyze the delays on its projects. As far as it is

         12  concerned, communities can suffer.

         13                 Many public owners have decided that

         14  the "no damages" roulette isn't the best way to do

         15  business. They pay for delays and poor decisions as

         16  they occur, so that they have a record of mistakes,

         17  a measure of mistakes and incentives to do it

         18  better. Those incentives mean faster jobs and less

         19  community disruption. The City should join that

         20  group and ease the burden that it puts on

         21  long-suffering communities.

         22

         23  Written Testimony of:

         24  George A. Fox

         25  Chairman Emeritus
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          2  Cooper Union

          3

          4                 My name is George A. Fox. I am the

          5  retired CEO of Grow Tunneling Corp., and former

          6  president of the General Contractors Association and

          7  of the New York Building Congress. I am also

          8  Chairman Emeritus of the Cooper Union Board of

          9  Trustees.

         10                 I have spent 52 years in public works

         11  construction, mostly in the City of New York and

         12  have been seriously involved in the completion of

         13  over 74 major construction contracts.

         14                 The current no damage for delay

         15  clause, which is to have ten or 15 years in use is

         16  counterproductive to the public interest, punitive

         17  to the legitimate responsive contractor, is in

         18  opposition to the competitive field bid process and

         19  precludes the entry of smaller contractors who do

         20  not have the capital resources to deal with the

         21  uncertain, damaging affects of this clause.

         22                 The clause is intended to preempt

         23  frivolous and possibly venal lawsuits against the

         24  City. It does the reverse by depriving legitimate

         25  contractors, who perform exactly as ordered by the
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          2  City, from being properly reimbursed for delays

          3  which can amount to many months or even years. These

          4  delays cannot possible be anticipated or assigned a

          5  dollar figure.

          6                 The bureaucracy for the execution of

          7  construction contracts from one end of the process

          8  to the other is inherently onerous and very slow.

          9  The procedures are difficult enough standing alone.

         10  The no damage for delay clause discourages any

         11  expedition by the City of the work itself, and of

         12  the multitude of steps required for approval, change

         13  orders and payments. In fact, it does the opposite.

         14                 The clause creates a no fault

         15  contractual protection for the City regardless of

         16  any actions it may take or fail to take.

         17                 I urge the Council Committee to take

         18  steps to redraw the City construction contracts to

         19  eliminate the no damage for delay clause and to

         20  encourage the contracting community to participate

         21  in City work.

         22                 Fair and equitable treatment for both

         23  parties to a construction contract should be a

         24  given.

         25                 I would appreciate your inclusion of
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          2  this statement into the record of your proceeding.

          3

          4  Written Testimony of:

          5  Edward J. Malloy

          6  President

          7  Building and Construction Trades Council

          8

          9                 Dear Chairwoman Freed:

         10                 Governor George Pataki unfortunately

         11  vetoed A.10093-B/ S.6711-B, the so-called "no

         12  damages for delay" bill that would have allowed the

         13  recovery of costs to contractors on public work

         14  projects caused by delays attributable to the

         15  government owner.

         16                 As you know, this bill was passed

         17  overwhelmingly in both the Assembly and Senate by

         18  respective margins of 144-4 and 61-0.

         19                 This bill encouraged the kind of

         20  responsible construction environment typically found

         21  in the private sector where projects do not often

         22  suffer from questionable delays because investments

         23  on the real estate development end would not

         24  tolerate it.

         25                 Too many public works projects do not
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          2  operate under the same discipline. It is not

          3  uncommon to hear of even the best contractors

          4  suffering enormous financial harm, perhaps even

          5  leading to bankruptcy, because of delays caused by

          6  the government owner.

          7                 This bill would rectify that

          8  situation, allowing aggrieved contractors to seek

          9  restitution, which we believe would encourage

         10  government owners to avoid such situations and

         11  improve their operations. That will vastly improve

         12  the employment prospects of our union members.

         13                 We urge you and other City Council

         14  members to support this bill, which by bringing

         15  accountability to public works projects, will remove

         16  a real obstacle to their timely and cost-effective

         17  completion.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)

         19

         20
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the
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         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by
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